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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT   

 

To The Shareholders and Board of Directors of  

 G J Steel Public Company Limited 
 

Opinion  
 

I have audited the statements of financial position of G J Steel Public Company Limited as of December 

31, 2018, the related statements of changes in equity, income, comprehensive income and cash flows for 

the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies. 
 

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of G J Steel Public Company Limited as of December 31, 2018, and its financial performance and its 

cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRSs”). 
 

Basis for Opinion  
 

I conducted my audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing (“TSAs”). My responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

section of my report. I am independent of the Company in accordance with the Federation of Accounting 

Professions’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants together with the ethical requirements that are 

relevant to my audit of the financial statements, and I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 
 

Key Audit Matters  
 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgment, were of most significance in my 

audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of my 

audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming my opinion thereon, and I do not provide a 

separate opinion on these matters. I have determined the matters described below to be the key audit 

matters to be communicated in my report. 

 

Key Audit Matters included Audited Procedures are as follows: 

 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

 

As describe in Notes 4(e), 4(h) and 12 to the financial statement, the Company’s property, plant and 

equipment which are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses are significant 

amount. The management exercise judgment in determining the impairment loss due to the recoverable 

amount of the property, plant and equipment is determined on value in use by estimate future cash flows 

that the entity expects to derive from the assets which related to the projection of future operating 

performance, future plan and determination of an appropriate discount rate and key assumptions. 

Therefore, I have identified that considering the impairment loss of property, plant and equipment is the 

significant matter that requires special attention in the audit. 
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My audit procedure on such matter 

 

I verified the impairment of property, plant and equipment by consider and assess the reasonable and 

supportable assumptions and approaches in preparation of the estimate of future cash inflows or outflows 

which the Company expected to derive from the continuing use of the property, plant and equipment. 

Including assess the Company’s reasonable discount rate which used for calculation of the recoverable 

amount of the property, plant and equipment and considered the adequacy of the information disclosure related 

to impairment of property, plant and equipment. 

 

Other Information  

 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprise the information 

included in the annual report of the Company, but does not include the financial statements and my 

auditor’s report thereon, which is expected to be made available to me after the date of this auditor’s report. 

 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any form 

of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated. 

 

When I read the annual report, if I conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, I am required to 

communicate the matter to those charged with governance and the management of the Company. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 

accordance with TFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with TSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 

be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with TSAs, I exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 

of internal control. 

 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  

 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 

cease to continue as a going concern. 

 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 

in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 

that I identify during my audit. 

 

I also provide those charged with governance with a statement that I have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 

may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, I determine those matters that were of 

most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit 

matters. I describe these matters in my auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 

about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, I determine that a matter should not be 

communicated in my report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

 

 

 

 

(NATSARAK  SAROCHANUNJEEN)  

Certified Public Accountant 

Registration No. 4563 

 

 

A.M.T. & ASSOCIATES  
Bangkok, Thailand 

February 26, 2019 



G J Steel Public Company Limited

Statement of financial position

Assets Note 2018 2017

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 201,031,915            578,123,897            

Trade accounts receivable 7 13,892,449              32,960,295              

Inventories 8 3,861,388,858         3,278,913,905         

Short-term loan to related party 5, 9 94,000,000              94,000,000              

Other current assets 5, 10, 30 268,025,937            394,308,180            

Total current assets 4,438,339,159         4,378,306,277         

Non-current assets

Advance payment for purchase of property, plant and equipment 11 210,000,000            210,000,000            

Property, plant and equipment 12 13,838,823,623       14,637,995,867       

Intangible assets 13 7,134,735                6,224,647                

Other non-current assets 15, 30 330,065,237            313,227,607            

Total non-current assets 14,386,023,595       15,167,448,121       

Total assets 18,824,362,754       19,545,754,398       

31 December

(Baht)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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G J Steel Public Company Limited

Statement of financial position

Liabilities and equity Note 2018 2017

Current liabilities

Trade accounts payable 1.3, 5, 19, 30 2,033,028,589         870,384,829            

Other payables and accrued expenses 1.3, 5, 20, 30 660,628,473            723,523,901            

Advance from customers 40.4 32,682,502              192,349,206            

Short-term loan from related party 5, 17 1,239,362,400         1,476,200,847         

Accrued interest expenses 1.3, 5, 21 131,777,508            201,051,061            

Current portion of liabilities under rehabilitation plan 23, 30 180,013,171            204,359,878            

Current portion of finance lease obligation 18 416,261                    394,896                    

Provisions 24 40,565,153              -                         

Other current liabilities 22, 30 31,106,530              38,251,428              

Total current liabilities 4,349,580,587         3,706,516,046         

Non-current liabilities

Other payables and accrued expenses 1.3, 5, 20 58,077,068              232,315,868            

Long-term loan from related party 5, 17 1,117,518,130         1,479,358,073         

Finance lease obligation 18 1,388,843                1,805,104                

Employee benefit obligations 25 80,140,624              72,154,476              

Total non-current liabilities 1,257,124,665         1,785,633,521         

Total liabilities 5,606,705,252         5,492,149,567         

Equity

Share capital 26

   Authorised share capital 129,298,350,419     129,298,350,419     

   Issued and paid-up share capital 96,104,091,707       96,104,091,707       

Warrants 27 -                         -                         

Premium (discount) on ordinary shares 26 (61,757,357,060)      (61,757,357,060)      

Retained earnings (deficit)

  Appropriated

     Legal reserve 28 18,507,422              18,507,422              

  Deficit (21,457,265,785)      (20,621,318,456)      

Other components of equity 28 309,681,218            309,681,218            

Total equity 13,217,657,502       14,053,604,831       

Total liabilities and equity 18,824,362,754       19,545,754,398       

31 December

(Baht)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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G J Steel Public Company Limited

Statement of  income

Note 2018 2017

Income

Revenue from sale 5, 31 29,909,762,166       15,178,061,681       

Net gain from write-off the expired legal prescription of liabilities 30 119,077,086            -                         

Net foreign exchange gains 105,317,881            310,910,398            

Net gain from debt restructuring 1.3, 29 677,203                    734,023,402            

Other income 5 45,021,834              42,589,497              

Total income 30,179,856,170       16,265,584,978       

Expenses

Cost of sale

- Cost of goods sold 5 29,341,753,665       14,315,399,500       

- Idle cost 125,364,360            -                         

- Loss on devaluation of inventories 160,473,440            4,051,344                

Total Cost of sale 29,627,591,465       14,319,450,844       

Selling expenses 32 361,595,485            185,209,817            

Administrative expenses 5, 33 500,470,914            496,310,021            

Bad and doubtful debts expense 10,341,274              3,155,639                

Loss on confirmed purchase orders for undelivered raw material 24 40,565,153              -                         

Finance costs 5, 16, 36 475,239,208            271,127,538            

Total expenses 35 31,015,803,499       15,275,253,859       

Profit (loss) for the year (835,947,329)           990,331,119            

Earnings (loss) per share 38

Basic earning (loss) per share (0.060) 0.086

(Baht)

31 December

For the year ended

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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G J Steel Public Company Limited
Statements of  comprehensive  income

Note 2018 2017

Profit (loss) for the year (835,947,329)           990,331,119            

Other comprehensive income (expenses) :

Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss :

Actuarial gains (losses) on defined employee benefit plans 25 -                         (15,541,453)             

Income tax relating to other components of equity -                         -                         

Other comprehensive income (expenses) for the year -                         (15,541,453)             

Total comprehensive income (expenses) for the year (835,947,329)           974,789,666            

31 December

(Baht)

For the year ended

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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G J Steel Public Company Limited
Statement of changes in equity

Issued and 

paid-up Share premium / Legal Other comprehensive Paid in capital

share capital Warrants (discount) reserve Deficit income (expenses) from expire warrent Total equity

Actuarial gains (losses)

 on defined

 employee benefit plans

Note

For the year ended 31 December 2017

Balance at 1 January 2017 73,039,109,697           147,991,749        (39,828,910,395)            18,507,422           (21,596,108,122)              -                                         161,689,469         11,942,279,820         

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity

Contributions by and distributions to owners of the Company
Debt-to-equity conversion 26 23,064,982,010 -                       (21,928,446,665)            -                        -                                   -                                           -                        1,136,535,345 

Termination of warrants 27 and 28 -                               (147,991,749)       -                                 -                        -                                   -                                           147,991,749         -                            

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of the Company 23,064,982,010           (147,991,749)       (21,928,446,665)            -                        -                                   -                                           147,991,749         1,136,535,345           

Comprehensive income (expenses) for the year

Profit (loss) for the year -                               -                       -                                 -                        990,331,119                    -                                         -                        990,331,119              

Other comprehensive income (expenses) -                               -                       -                                 -                        -                                   (15,541,453)                             -                        (15,541,453)

Transferred to retained earnings (deficit) -                               -                       -                                 -                        (15,541,453)                     15,541,453                               -                        -                            

Total comprehensive income (expenses) for the year -                               -                       -                                 -                        974,789,666                    -                                         -                        974,789,666              

Balance at 31 December 2017 96,104,091,707           -                     (61,757,357,060)            18,507,422           (20,621,318,456)              -                                         309,681,218         14,053,604,831         

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Balance at 1 January 2018 96,104,091,707           -                     (61,757,357,060)            18,507,422           (20,621,318,456)              -                                         309,681,218         14,053,604,831         

Comprehensive income (expenses) for the year

Profit (loss) for the year -                               -                       -                                 -                        (835,947,329)                   -                                         -                        (835,947,329)            

Other comprehensive income (expenses) -                               -                       -                                 -                        -                                   -                                         -                        -                            

Total comprehensive income (expenses) for the year -                               -                       -                                 -                        (835,947,329)                   -                                         -                        (835,947,329)            

Balance at 31 December 2018 96,104,091,707           -                     (61,757,357,060)            18,507,422           (21,457,265,785)              -                                         309,681,218         13,217,657,502         

(Baht)

Retained earnings / (Deficit) Other components of equity

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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G J Steel Public Company Limited

Statement of cash flows

2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities

Net profit (loss) for the year (835,947,329)                 990,331,119                  

Adjustments for

Depreciation and amortisation 881,888,909                  926,258,623                  

Work roll amortisation 111,697,717                  107,197,678                  

Interest income (2,817,083)                     (9,337,998)                     

Finance costs 475,239,208                  271,127,538                  

(Reversal of) loss on impairment of property, plant and equipment (3,524)                            (211,740)                        

Net gain from debt restructuring (677,203)                        (734,023,402)                 

Net gain from write-off the expired legal prescription of liabilities (119,077,086)                 -                                 

Gain from foreign exchange of debt restructuring 

   at the date of debt-to-equity conversion -                                 (78,650,962)                   

Unrealised loss (gain) on foreign exchange (29,658,486)                   (94,919,859)                   

Bad and doubtful debts expense 10,341,274                    3,155,639                      

Loss on devaluation of  inventories 160,473,440                  4,051,344                      

Loss on confirmed purchase orders for undelivered raw material 40,565,153                    -                                 

Employee benefit expenses 8,101,349                      3,925,962                      

Loss (gain) on write-off of assets 163,081                         7,803,930                      

700,289,420                  1,396,707,872               

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Trade accounts receivable 19,067,846                    (8,869,077)                     

Inventories (742,948,393)                 (2,428,339,405)              

Advances to suppliers 172,286,538                  (177,080,695)                 

Other current assets (60,586,422)                   (123,082,606)                 

Other non-current assets (145,932,761)                 (135,998,318)                 

Trade accounts payable 1,185,516,249               456,710,814                  

Advances received from customers (159,666,704)                 2,253,163                      

Other payables and accrued expenses (143,555,781)                 (283,114,740)                 

Other current liabilities 10,396,251                    5,680,608                      

Paid employee benefit obligations (115,200)                        (1,295,142)                     

Net cash from (used in) operating activities 834,751,043                  (1,296,427,526)              

For the year ended 

31 December

(Baht)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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G J Steel Public Company Limited

Statement of cash flows

2018 2017

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 2,817,083                      3,798,272                      

Short-term loan to related party decrease (increase) -                                 (94,000,000)                   

Purchase of Intangible assets (2,845,311)                     -                                 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (80,940,999)                   (9,919,570)                     

Net cash from (used in) investing activities (80,969,227)                   (100,121,298)                 

Cash flows from financing activities

Receive short-term loan from related party -                                 1,473,155,000               

Receive long-term loan from other party -                                 1,430,645,800               

Receive long-term loan from related party -                                 167,553,000                  

Payment for redeemtion of debentures -                                 (62,606,649)                   

Repayment of liabilities under rehabilitation plan (6,568,141)                     (12,921,734)                   

Repayment of liabilities under debt restructuring -                                 (922,204,180)                 

Repayment of short-term loan from other party -                                 (18,500,000)                   

Repayment of short-term loan from related party (229,930,400)                 -                                 

Repayment of long-term loan from related party (361,319,200)                 -                                 

Payment for financial lease liabilities (501,600)                        -                                 

Finance costs paid

   - Liabilities under debt restructuring -                                 (516,033,506)                 

   - Others (532,519,476)                 (173,999,336)                 

Net cash from (used in) financing activities (1,130,838,817)              1,365,088,395               

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (377,057,001)                 (31,460,429)                   

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 578,123,897                  610,143,344                  

Effect of exchange rate changes on balances 

   held in foreign currencies (34,981)                          (559,018)                        

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 201,031,915                  578,123,897                  

For the year ended 

(Baht)

31 December

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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G J Steel Public Company Limited

Statement of cash flows

2018 2017

Non-cash transactions 

For the year ended December 31, 2018

From write-off the expired legal prescription of liabilities

Decrease in other current assets (4,240,853)                     -                                 

Decrease in other non - current assets (17,397,414)                   -                                 

Decrease in trade accounts payable 12,531,371                    -                                 

Decrease in other payables and accrued expenses 92,680,271                    -                                 

Decrease in accrued interest expenses 2,122,100                      -                                 

Decrease in liabilities under rehabilitation plan 16,000,382                    -                                 

Decrease in other current liabilities 17,381,229                    -                                 

For the year ended December 31, 2017

Transfer trade accounts payable, other payables and accrued expenses

and accrued interest expenses to liabilities under the debt restructuring -                                 3,239,738,757               

Transfer accrued interest expenses to other payables

and accrued expenses -                                 206,577,995                  

Transfer provisions for tax to other payables

and accrued expenses -                                 72,240,064                    

Decrease in liabilities under debt restructuring and other payables and accrued expenses

   increase in issued and paid-up share capital and discount on ordinary shares

   from debt-to-equity conversion -                                 1,136,535,345               

Settlements between trade account receivable with trade account payable -                                 171,868,511                  

Increase in finance lease obligation from purchase of vehicle -                                 2,200,000                      

For the year ended 

31 December

(Baht)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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G J Steel Public Company Limited  

Notes to the financial statements  

For the year ended 31 December 2018 
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G J Steel Public Company Limited  

Notes to the financial statements  

For the year ended 31 December 2018 
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The accompanying notes to financial statements an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 

February 2019. 

 

1 General information, going concern and the Company’s debt restructuring 

 

1.1 General information 
 

G J Steel Public Company Limited (the “Company”), is incorporated in Thailand and has its registered 

office as follows: 

 

Head office : 88 Paso Tower, 24th Floor, Silom Road, Suriyawong, Bangrak, Bangkok. 

 

Factory : 358 Moo 6, Hemaraj Industrial Estate (Bowin) Highway 331, Tambol Bowin, Amphur 

Sriracha, Chonburi.  

 

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange of Thailand (the “SET”) on 2 July 1996. 

 

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s major shareholders were Asia Credit Opportunities I 

(Mauritius) Limited (“ACO I”) (24% shareholding) was incorporated in overseas. G Steel Public 

Company Limited (“G Steel”) (15.08% shareholding), Superior Overseas (Thailand) Company Limited 

(2.96% shareholding) and GS Securities Holdings Co., Ltd. (“GS Securities”) (2.20% shareholding). 

Those companies were incorporated in Thailand. And GS Securities are 99.99% owned by G Steel.  
 

The principal business of the Company is the manufacturing of various flat - rolled steel products.  

 

1.2 Going concern 

 

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 part of financial position of the Company are as follows: 

 

  Million Baht 

  As at 31 December 

Risk effected to the going concern  2018  2017 
(1) Profit (loss) for the years  (836)  990 

(2) Deficit  21,457  20,621 

(3) Current assets exceed current liabilities  89  672 

 

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 there was no factors may cause significant doubt on going concern due 

to the Company has accomplished its plan by negotiating debt restructuring with major creditors by which 

of conversion debts-to-equity in successfully as described to the financial statement in Note 1.3 and Note 

26 combination with the providing credit facility for additional working capital as described to the 

financial statement in Note 42 resulting to enhancing the financial position as at 31 December 2018 and 

2017 the Company had current assets exceeding current liabilities of Baht 89 million and Baht 672 

million respectively. Besides, the Company still has various plans to increase the profitability in future as 

followings: 



 
G J Steel Public Company Limited  

Notes to the financial statements  

For the year ended 31 December 2018 
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a) The production 

 

The Company has the production utilized the off-peak period (which has lower demand for electricity 

and hence lower tariff rate). In 2017, the Company increases the production to nearly full capacity for 

off-peak and in the second half of year 2018 the Company has a test run to extend the 24-hour 

production capacity for 6 days a week in order to ensure that the machinery is a good condition for 

running the 24-hour production capacity in year 2019, in order to reduce the production unit cost. The 

Company has adjustment plan in respect of various projects aiming to reduce production cost in order to 

be competitive with the competitors and the importer. Projects are in the form of energy reduction, 

increase efficiency as well as minimize loss in the production process, etc. 

 

b) The Governmental support 

 

The Company has cooperated with the other hot-rolled flat steel producers (collectively called “the 

domestic industry”), filed the petitions for trade remedies to the Thai government, led by Ministry of 

Commerce, as consequences to serious injuries caused by unfair trade practice in the forms of dumping 

import hot - rolled steel flat products and import surge to Thailand that also have impacted the stability 

of Thailand’s economy. Up to the present, Ministry of Commerce had made several determinations and 

notifications of antidumping measures and safeguard measures in order to help the domestic industry to 

stand and compete with the import goods on a fair trade basis and to adjust themselves to further stand 

for increasing competition with the import goods in the domestic market as follows: 

 

Antidumping Measures (5-year term)   

     

 Import Goods Origin AD Duty Rate Effective 

1 Hot-rolled steel flat 

products in coil and not 

in coil 

14 countries Various rate up to 128.11% of 

C.I.F. value 

23 May 2015 to 

22 May 2020 

2 Hot-rolled steel flat 

products in coil and not 

in coil 

China and 

Malaysia 

China 30.91% of C.I.F. value 

Malaysia 23.57 - 42.51% of C.I.F. 

value 

23 Jun 2017 to  

22 Jun 2022  

3 Hot-rolled steel flat 

products in coil and not 

in coil 

Brazil, Iran 

and Turkey 

Brazil 34.40% of C.I.F. value 

Iran 7.25 - 38.27% of C.I.F. value 

Turkey 6.88 - 38.23% of C.I.F. 

value 

16 May 2017 to 

15 May 2022  

4 Boron-added steel hot 

rolled flat products in 

coil and not in coil 

China 14.28 - 19.47% of C.I.F. value 12 Dec 2018 to 

11 Dec 2023* 



 
G J Steel Public Company Limited  

Notes to the financial statements  

For the year ended 31 December 2018 
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* The domestic industry filed petition to Department of Foreign Trade along with the evident 

information concerned requesting for continuation review of the imposition of antidumping 

measure for the next 5 years. The Department later issued on 30 November 2017 (published on the 

royal gazette on 13 December 2017) the “Notification for Initiation of Necessity Review for 

Continuation of the Antidumping Measure on Boron-added Steel Hot Rolled Flat Products 

Originated from the People’s Republic of China”, as the start of the antidumping measure 

continuation review procedure, in which several interested parties were participating. During the 

review, there is further anti-dumping duty imposed for a period of more than 1 year and the latest 

dumping sand subsidy consideration processes has announced the results of the review to extend 

the enforcement of anti-dumping measures dated 11 December 2018, as published on the royal 

gazette on 12 December 2018 that determine to impose the antidumping duties, at the rate 

unchanged, on Boron-added Steel Hot Rolled Flat Products Originated from the People’s Republic 

of China for the next 5 years, with effect from 12 December 2018 through 11 December 2023. 
 

Safeguard Measures (3-year term)   

     

 Import Goods Origin SG Duty Rate Effective 

1 Other-alloy 

steel hot-rolled 

flat products in 

coil and not in 

coil 

any countries (except 

the developing 

countries that 

account for less than 

3% of share in total 

import volume to 

Thailand) 

- Imported 27 Feb 2016 - 26 Feb 2017 

41.67% of C.I.F. value 

- Imported 27 Feb 2017 - 26 Feb 2018 

40.42% of C.I.F. value 

- Imported 27 Feb 2018 - 26 Feb 2019 

39.21% of C.I.F. value 

27 Feb 2016 

to 26 Feb 

2019 

2 Non-alloy steel 

hot-rolled flat 

products in coil 

and not in coil 

any countries (except 

the developing 

countries that 

account for less than 

3% of share in total 

import volume to 

Thailand) 

- Imported 7 Jun 2017 - 6 Jun 2018 

21.00% of C.I.F. value 

- Imported 7 Jun 2018 - 6 Jun 2019 

20.87% of C.I.F. value 

- Imported 7 Jun 2019 - 6 Jun 2020 

20.74% of C.I.F. value 

7 Jun 2017 to  

6 Jun 2020   

 

c) Local demand of Hot-Rolled Steel Flat Products  (Sourced : Iron and Steel Institute of Thailand) 

 

Hot Rolled Steel   

(million metric tonnes) 
Year 2018 Year 2017 

Increase / 

(decrease) 

Production 3.20 2.92 0.28 

Import 3.96 3.87 0.09 

Export 0.074 0.010 0.064 

Consumption 7.09 6.78 0.31 

 

For the trend of the steel industry, World Steel Association forecasts that the demand of ASEAN steel 

consumption in the year 2019 will increase by 6.2% per annum. For Thailand, local demand for steel 

consumption is expected to increase around 8.2% per annum following the demand from local 

downstream industry. 
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1.3 The Company’s debt restructuring 

 

Major Trade Creditors Restructuring  

 

Previously, the Company has three Major Trade Creditors with aggregated claims of USD 83 million 

(Baht 3,004 million) as at 31 December 2016 which the Company has defaulted on the compromise 

agreement. 

 

On 31 January 2017, the Company received the notice of assignment to debtor from such three Major 

Trade Creditors and another trade creditor including all amount payable under the contracts up until 31 

January 2017 in amount of USD 91 million to new foreign company (hereinafter referred to as “new 

creditor”). On 3 February 2017, the Company has repayment for some portion of principal and interest 

payable to new creditor in amount of USD 40 million from the drawn down of loan facility as described 

to the financial statement in Note 17. 
 

Later on 10 February 2017, new creditor has agreed to reduce interest payable to the Company in amount 

of USD 15 million, the outstanding debt is remaining to USD 36 million (principal was amounting to 

USD 33 million and interest payable was amounting to USD 3 million). The Company agrees to 

restructure the debt which shall be completed by 31 March 2017, the new creditor has agreed on interest 

chargeable on such principal in the rate of 4% p.a. and if the debt restructuring has not yet completed 

within 31 March 2017 then the interest rate shall be adjusted to 7.5% p.a. from the date of 31 March 2017 

until the debt restructuring completed or has already repayment in full amount. 
 

On 24 March 2017 and later on 14 June 2017, the Company and new creditor has agreed to extend the 

period of debt restructuring until to 30 September 2017, whereby the interest chargeable on principal still 

at the rate of 4% p.a. and if the debt restricting has not yet completed within 30 September 2017 then the 

interest rate shall be adjusted to 7.5% p.a. from the date of 30 September 2017 until the debt restructuring 

completed or has already repayment in full amount.  
 

On 26 May 2017, the Company had entered the Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) with the 

foreign company in which who is the shareholder of the new creditor. Under the said MOU, the plans for 

the debt restructuring of the Company are as follow: 

 

a) The Company had a total debt of USD 36.70 million including debts of USD 32.35 million and 

interest payable of USD 4.35 million which calculation until 30 August 2017. 

 

b) The new creditor agreed to waive the partial of interest payable of USD 3.77 million as a result the 

Company’s net outstanding debt before the debt-to-equity conversion shall be USD 32.93 million.  

By mean of under the its condition that the allocation and offering of the newly issued ordinary shares 

of the Company under to the debt-to-equity conversion scheme must get the approval from the 

Extraordinary Shareholders’ meeting no.1/2017 on 30 August 2017 before. 
 

On 30 August 2017, the Extraordinary Shareholders’ meeting no.1/2017 had approved the allocation and 

offering of the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company under to the debt-to-equity conversion 

scheme as described to the financial statement in Note 26.1. 
 

On 11 September 2017, the Company entered to Share Subscription Agreement with Asia Credit 

Opportunities I (Mauritius) Limited which is the new creditor whereby the agreement stipulated debt 

conversion conditions and the requirements to be complied before the capital increase, and the deadline 

for completion is 30 September 2017. On 21 September 2017, the Company has already converted its 

debt to equity under the agreement as described to the financial statement in Note 26.2. 



 
G J Steel Public Company Limited  

Notes to the financial statements  

For the year ended 31 December 2018 

14 

 

The movement of liabilities under debt restructuring for year ended 31 December 2017 was as below: 

 

  (in million Baht) 

At 31 December 2016   - 

Transfer from Trade accounts payable  1,454 

Transfer from Other payables and accrued expenses  613 

Transfer from Accrued interest  1,173 

Total liabilities at 31 January 2017  3,240 

Deduct Repayment during the 1st Quarter  (1,438) 

Deduct Gain from the Creditor waived the debt during the 1st Quarter  (531) 

Additional Accrued interest from 1 February 2017 to 30 August 2017  31 

Deduct Gain from the Creditor waived the debt during the 3rd Quarter  (125) 

Deduct Debt-to-equity conversion during the 3rd Quarter  (1,096) 

Effect of exchange rate during the year  (81) 

Ending balance of liabilities under debt restructuring   

At 31 December 2017   - 

 

Other Creditors Restructuring 

 

The Company has negotiated repayment schedules for overdue debt owed to Other Creditors for the year 

ended 31 December 2018 as details below: 

 

  (in million Baht) 

As at 31 December 2017  65 

Deduct Repayment during the year  (53) 

Deduct Write-off the expired legal prescription of liabilities  (11) 

Balance of other creditors restructuring   

As at 31 December 2018   1 

 

2 Basis of preparation of the financial statements  

 

(a) Statement of compliance 

 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards (TFRS); 

guidelines promulgated by the Thailand Federation of Accounting Professions (“TFAC”); and applicable 

rules and regulations of the Thai Securities and Exchange Commission. 

 

During the year, the Company have adopted accounting standards, financial reporting standards, 

accounting standard interpretations and financial reporting standard interpretations which issued and 

revised by the TFAC which are effective for financial statement year beginning on or after 1 January 

2018. However, the adoptions of said financial reporting standards in the current year does not have 

material effect on the financial statements. 
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In addition to the above new and revised TFRS, during the year, the TFAC has issued a number of other 

new and revised accounting standards, financial reporting standards, accounting standard interpretations 

and financial reporting standard interpretation which are effective for financial statements beginning on or 

after 1 January 2019 and 1 January 2020 and have not been adopted in the preparation of these financial 

statements. Those new and revised TFRS that are relevant to the Company’s operations are disclosed to 

the financial statement in Note 3. 

 

An English language version of the financial statements has been prepared from the statutory financial 

statements that were issued in Thai language. In case of conflict of difference in understanding, the 

interim financial statements in Thai language shall prevail. 

 

(b) Basis of measurement 
 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as stated in the accounting 

policies. 

 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 

 

The financial statements are presented in Thai Baht. Which is the Company’s functional currency. All 

financial information presented in Thai Baht has been rounded in the notes to the financial statements to 

the nearest million unless otherwise stated. 

 

(d) Use of estimates and judgments 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with TFRS requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of 

assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from estimates. 

 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on going basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

 

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying 

accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial 

statements is included in the following notes:  

 

Note 7  Allowance for doubtful accounts 

Note 8  Allowance for devaluation of inventories 

Note 11  Appraisal valuations and allowance for impairment of advance payment for purchase of  

  property, plant and equipment 

Note 12  Appraisal valuations and allowance for impairment of property, plant and equipment 

Note 13  Appraisal valuations and allowance for impairment of intangible asset 

Note 15  Appraisal valuations and allowance for impairment of suspended  

  construction in progress 

Note 24  Provision 

Note 25  Measurement of defined benefit obligations 

Note 38  Appraisal valuations of financial instruments 

Note 40  Litigation  
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3 Financial reporting standards which are not effective for the current year 

 

During the year, the Federation of Accounting Professions has issued the revised and new accounting 

standards, financial reporting standards, accounting standard interpretations and financial reporting 

standard interpretations, which are effective for financial statements period beginning on or after 1 January 

in the year indicated as follows: 
 

 Year effective 

Accounting Standard  

TAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 2 Inventories (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting   

  Estimates and Errors (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 12 Income Taxes (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 17 Leases (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 19 Employee Benefits (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of   

  Government Assistance (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 23 Borrowing Costs (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 2020 

TAS 33 Earnings per Share (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 36 Impairment of Assets (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (revised 2018) 2019 
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 Year effective 

Accounting Standard  

TAS 38 Intangible Assets (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 40 Investment Property (revised 2018) 2019 

TAS 41 Agriculture (revised 2018) 2019 

Financial Reporting Standard  

TFRS 1 First - time Adoption of Thai Financial Reporting Standards 2019 

TFRS 2 Share - based Payment (revised 2018) 2019 

TFRS 3 Business Combinations (revised 2018) 2019 

TFRS 5 Non - current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued   

Operations (revised 2018) 2019 

TFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources (revised 2018) 2019 

TFRS 7 Financial Instruments : Disclosures 2020 

TFRS 8 Operating Segments (revised 2018) 2019 

TFRS 9 Financial Instruments 2020 

TFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (revised 2018) 2019 

TFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (revised 2018) 2019 

TFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (revised 2018) 2019 

TFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (revised 2018) 2019 

TFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 2019 

Accounting Standard Interpretations  

TSIC 10 Government Assistance - No Specific Relation to   

Operating Activities (revised 2018) 2019 

TSIC 15 Operating Leases - Incentives (revised 2018) 2019 

TSIC 25 Income Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an Entity  

or its Shareholders (revised 2018) 2019 

TSIC 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving   

the Legal Form of a Lease (revised 2018) 2019 

TSIC 29 Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosures (revised 2018) 2019 

TSIC 32 Intangible Assets - Web Site Costs (revised 2018) 2019 

Financial Reporting Standard Interpretations  

TFRIC 1 Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration   

and Similar Liabilities (revised 2018) 2019 

TFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease   

(revised 2018) 2019 
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 Year effective 

Financial Reporting Standard Interpretations  

TFRIC 5 Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning,   

Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds   

(revised 2018) 2019 

TFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under TAS 29   

Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies  

(revised 2018) 2019 

TFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment (revised 2018) 2019 

TFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements (revised 2018) 2019 

TFRIC 14 TAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,   

Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction   

(revised 2018) 2019 

TFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 2020 

TFRIC 17 Distributions of Non - Cash Assets to Owners (revised 2018) 2019 

TFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments 2020 

TFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine   

(revised 2018) 2019 

TFRIC 21 Levies (revised 2018) 2019 

 

The management of the Company has assessed TAS, TFRS, TSIC and TFRIC which are effective for 

financial statements year beginning on or after 1 January 2019 that TAS 1, TAS 2, TAS 7, TAS 8, TAS 

10, TAS 12, TAS 16, TAS 17, TAS 19, TAS 21, TAS 23, TAS 24, TAS 33, TAS 34, TAS 36, TAS 37, 

TAS 38 and TFRS 8, TFRS 13 and TFRS 15 will not have material impact on the financial statements 

when it is applied. For the other TAS, TFRS, TSIC and TFRIC are not relevant to the Company’s business, 

therefore they do not have impact on the financial statement when they are applied.  

 

And the management of the Company is currently evaluating the impact of TAS, TFRS and TFRIC which 

are effective for financial statements year beginning on or after 1 January 2020 to the financial statements 

when they are adopted. 
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4 Significant accounting policies 
 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 

financial statements. 
 

(a) Foreign currencies 

 
Foreign currency transactions 

 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the dates of the transactions.   

 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the 

functional currency at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising 

on translation are recognised in profit or loss. 

 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at cost in foreign currencies are translated to the functional 

currency using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.  

 
Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are generally recognized in profit or loss. 

 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents 

  

Cash and cash equivalents in the statements of cash flows comprise cash balances, call deposits and high 

liquidity short-term investments. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand are a component of 

financing activities for the purpose of the statement of cash flows. 

 

(c) Trade and other accounts receivable 

 

Trade and other accounts receivable are stated at their invoice value less allowance for doubtful accounts. 

 

The allowance for doubtful accounts is assessed primarily on analysis of payment histories and future 

expectations of customer payments. Bad debts are written off when incurred. 

 

(d) Inventories 
 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

 

Cost is calculated using the weighted average method cost principle, and comprises all costs of purchase, 

costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and 

condition. In the case of finished goods and work-in-progress, cost includes an appropriate share of 

production overheads based on normal operating capacity. 
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Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated 

costs to complete and to make the sale. 

 

An allowance is made for all deteriorated, damaged, obsolete and slow-moving inventories.  

 

The Company recognises an asset and corresponding liability in respect of consignment inventories once 

the Company obtains the rights and responsibilities of legal and economic ownership. 

 

(e) Property, plant and equipment 
 

Recognition and measurement 

 

Owned assets 

 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  

 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-

constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to 

bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and removing 

the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and capitalised borrowing costs. Cost also may 

include transfers from other comprehensive income of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of 

foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment. Purchased software that is integral to the 

functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. 

 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for 

as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.  

 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the 

proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and are recognised net 

within other income in profit or loss. 

 

Subsequent costs 

 

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying 

amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to 

the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is 

derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in 

profit or loss as incurred. 
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Depreciation 
 

Depreciation is calculated based on the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other amount 

substituted for cost, less its residual value. 
 

Depreciation is charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 

component of an item of property, plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 

Land improvements 20 years 

Buildings 20 - 50 years 

Machinery and equipment 15 - 30 years 

Furniture and fixtures 5 years 

Office equipment   5 - 10 years 

Vehicles  5 years 
 

No depreciation is provided on freehold land or assets under construction. 
 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and 

adjusted if appropriate. 
 

(f) Intangible assets 
 

Intangible assets represent the cost of computer software and a production license. These intangible 

assets that are acquired by the Company and have finite useful live are measured at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and impairment losses.  
 

Subsequent expenditure  
 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in 

the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated 

goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  
 

Amortisation 
 

Amortisation is calculated over the cost of the asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual 

value.  
 

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 

intangible assets, from the date that they are available for use, since this most closely reflects the 

expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. The estimated 

useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 
 

Computer software licences 10 years 

Production licences 25 years 
 

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and 

adjusted if appropriate. 
 

(g) Deferred costs of rolls  

  

Deferred costs of rolls are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is based on 

consumption. 
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(h) Impairment 
 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 

there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable amounts are 

estimated. 
 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 

recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss unless it reverses a previous 

revaluation credited to equity, in which case it is charged to equity. 

 

Calculation of recoverable amount 

 

The recoverable amount of non-financial assets is the greater of the asset’s value in use and fair value less 

costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 

using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 

risks specific to the asset.  For an asset that does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those 

from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset 

belongs. 

 

Reversals of impairment 

 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset is reversed if the subsequent increase in recoverable 

amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit 

or loss.  

 

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods in respect of non-financial assets are assessed at each 

reporting date for any indications that the losses have decreased or no longer exits. An impairment loss is 

reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An 

impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 

carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 

loss had been recognised.  

 

(i) Interest-bearing liabilities 

 

Interest-bearing liabilities are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction charges.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing liabilities are stated at amortised cost with any 

difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the 

borrowings on an effective interest basis.  

 

(j) Trade and other accounts payable 

 

Trade and other accounts payable are stated at cost. 
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(k) Employee benefits 

 

Defined contribution plans 

 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed 

contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 

amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an 

employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by 

employees.  

 

Defined benefit plans 

 

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The 

Company’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each plan 

by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the 

current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Any unrecognised past 

service costs and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the 

reporting date on AA credit-rated bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the 

Company’s obligations and that are denominated in the same currency in which the benefits are expected 

to be paid.  

 

The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. When the 

calculation results in a benefit to the Company, the recognised asset is limited to the total of any 

unrecognised past service costs and the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any 

future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. In order to calculate the 

present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any minimum funding requirements that 

apply to any plan in the Company. An economic benefit is available to the Company if it is realisable 

during the life of the plan, or on settlement of the plan liabilities. 

 

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by 

employees is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits 

become vested. To the extent that the benefits vest immediately, the expense is recognised immediately in 

profit or loss. 

 

The Company recognises all actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans in other 

comprehensive income and all expenses related to defined benefit plans in profit or loss. 

 

(l) Provisions 
 

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive 

obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows 

at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 

to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. 
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Onerous contracts 

 

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Company 

from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting the Company’s obligations under the 

contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating 

the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, 

the Company recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract. 

 

(m) Revenue  
 

Revenue excludes value added taxes and is arrived at after deduction of trade discounts. 

 

Sale of goods  

 

Revenue is recognised in profit and loss when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been 

transferred to the buyer. No revenue is recognised if there is continuing management involvement with the 

goods or there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or 

the probable return of goods. 

 

Interest income 

 

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues.   

 

(n) Finance costs 
 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions and 

contingent consideration, losses on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, dividends on preference 

shares classified as liabilities, fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 

impairment losses recognised on financial assets (other than trade receivables), and losses on hedging 

instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 

qualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 

 

(o) Lease payments 
 

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the term 

of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the total lease 

expense, over the term of the lease. 

 

Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining 

term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.  
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Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease  

 

At inception of an arrangement, the Company determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a 

lease. A specific asset is the subject of a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of 

that specified asset. An arrangement conveys the right to use the asset if the arrangement conveys to the 

Company the right to control the use of the underlying asset.  

 

At inception or upon reassessment of the arrangement, the Company separates payments and other 

consideration required by such an arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on the 

basis of their relative fair values. If the Company concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable to 

separate the payments reliably, an asset and a liability are recognised at an amount equal to the fair value 

of the underlying asset. Subsequently the liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed 

finance charge on the liability is recognised using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. 

 

(p) Income tax 

 

Income tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are 

recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to a business combination, or items 

recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax 

rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 

previous years. 

 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 

recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial 

recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects 

neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and 

jointly-controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable 

future. 

 

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the 

Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets 

and liabilities. 

 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when 

they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

 

In determining the amount of current tax, the Company takes into account the impact of uncertain tax 

positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Company believes that its accruals for 

tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including 

interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and 

may involve a series of judgements about future events. New information may become available that 

causes the Company to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such 

changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made. 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 

liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable 

entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or 

their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.   

 

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 

available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at 

each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 

be realised. 

 

(q) Earnings (loss) per share 
 

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic 

earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders of 

the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted 

for own shares held. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is determined by adjusting the profit (loss) 

attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, 

adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise 

convertible notes and share options granted to employees. 

 

(r) Segment reporting 

 

Segment results that are reported to the Group’s CEO (the chief operating decision maker) include items 

directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  

 

5 Connected persons or related parties 

 

For the purposes of these financial statements, connected persons or related parties are considered to be 

related to the Company if the Company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or joint control the 

party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice 

versa, or where the Company and the party are subject to common control or common significant 

influence. Connected persons or related parties may be individuals or other entities.   

 

Relationships with connected persons or related parties were as follows: 

 

 Country of   

 incorporation/  Nature of 

Name of entities Nationality Type of business Relationships 

G Steel Public Co., Ltd. 

(“G Steel”) 

Thailand Manufacture and sale of steel Parent company  

Oriental Access Co., Ltd. 

(“OAC”)  

Thailand Business consulting services Subsidiary of G Steel  

Siam Professional Holding 

Co., Ltd. (“SPH”) 

Thailand Holding company Subsidiary of G Steel  

GS Securities Holding Co., 

Ltd. (“GS Securities”) 

Thailand Special-purpose 

restructuring entity 

Subsidiary of G Steel 
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 Country of   

 incorporation/  Nature of 

Name of entities Nationality Type of business Relationships 

GS Notes Holding 2 Co., Ltd. 

(“GS Notes 2”) 

Thailand Special-purpose  

restructuring entity 

Subsidiary of G Steel 

(registered the dissolution 

of the company on 22 

September 2017) 

Asia Credit Opportunities I 

(Mauritius) Limited 

(“ACO I”) 

Mauritius Special-purpose for investment Since September 21, 2017, 

Major shareholder which is 

a wholly-owned subsidiary 

of SSG Capital Partners III, 

L.P. (“SSG III”) 

Link Capital I (Mauritius) 

Limited (“Link Capital I”) 

Mauritius Special-purpose for investment Since September 21, 2017, 

Related party which is a 

wholly-owned subsidiary of 

SSG Capital Partners III, 

L.P. (“SSG III”) 

SSP Place Co., Ltd. Thailand Office rental Common executive  

Asia Metal Public Co.,Ltd. Thailand Manufacture and sale of steel Common shareholder and 

director of G Steel 

Panichsawad Co., Ltd.  

 

Thailand Sale of Steel 

 

Director related to major 

shareholder of G Steel 

Arnoma Hotel Bangkok  

   Co., Ltd. 

Thailand Hotel, food and beverage Common director and 

executive 

Felix River Kwai Resort  

   (Kanchanaburi) Co., Ltd. 

Thailand Hotel, food and beverage Common executive  

Mahachai Steel Center  

   Co., Ltd. 

Thailand Sale of steel Related party of the 

shareholder of G Steel  

Metal Inter Co., Ltd. Thailand  Sale of steel Related party of the 

shareholder of G Steel  

M & L Steel Co., Ltd. Thailand  Sale of Steel Related party of the 

shareholder of G Steel 

(registered the dissolution 

of the company on 23 April 

2018) 

The Steel Public Co., Ltd. Thailand Manufacture and sale of steel Related party of the 

shareholder of G Steel 

Liberty Steel Siam  

   Co., Ltd. 

Thailand Sale of Steel Related party of the 

shareholder of G Steel 
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 Country of   

 incorporation/  Nature of 

Name of entities Nationality Type of business Relationships 

Key management  

   Personnel 

Thailand - Persons having authority 

and responsibility for 

planning directing and 

controlling the activities of 

the entity, directly or 

indirectly, including any 

director (whether executive 

or otherwise) of the 

Company 

 

The pricing policies for particular types of transactions are explained further below: 

 
Transactions Pricing policies 

Sale of raw materials  Cost plus margin and agreed prices 

Sale of finished goods Agreed prices with reference to market prices 

Purchase of raw materials Cost plus margin and agreed prices 

Purchase of finished goods Agreed prices with reference to market prices 

Tolling service Contractual prices 

Rental and service expenses Contractual prices 

Financial advisory services Contractual prices 

Finance costs Contractual rate 
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Significant transactions for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 with connected persons or 

related parties were as follows: 

 

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Parent Company (G Steel)     

Sales of raw materials and finished goods  273  - 

Purchases of raw materials   668  937 

Tolling service  3,873  536 

     

Connected persons or related parties     

Sales of raw materials and finished goods  977  583 

Purchases of raw materials and finished goods  15  1,433 

Rental and service expenses  4  5 

Finance costs  440  91 

     

Key management personnel     

Key management personnel compensation     

   Salary and bonus  29  28 

   Welfare  3  4 

   Provident fund  1  1 

   Total key management personnel compensation  33  33 
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Balances as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 with related parties were as follows: 
 

  As at 31 December 

  2018  2017 

 Note (in million Baht) 

Short-term loan to related party 9    

Parent company     

G Steel  94  94 
     

Accrued interest receivable 10    

Parent company     

G Steel  5  5 
     

Advance to suppliers 10    

Parent company     

G Steel  -  167 

Connected persons or related parties     

Mahachai Steel Center Co., Ltd.  8  20 

Total  8  187 
     

Trade accounts payable 19    

Parent company     

G Steel  6  123 

Connected persons or related parties     

Mahachai Steel Center Co., Ltd.  -  66 

Total  6  189 
     

Customer advances 40.4    

Connected persons or related parties     

The Steel  -  4 
     

Other payables and accrued expenses 20    

Connected persons or related parties     

OAC  13  13 

Arnoma Hotel Bangkok Co., Ltd.  -  1 

SSP  1  - 

Link Capital I  -  2 

Total  14  16 
     

Shot-term loan from related party 17    

Connected persons or related parties     

Link Capital I  1,239  1,476 
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  As at 31 December 

  2018  2017 

 Note (in million Baht) 

Long-term loan from related party 17    

Connected persons or related parties     

Link Capital I  1,118  1,479 

     

Accrued interest expenses 21    

Connected persons or related parties     

OAC  4  3 

Link Capital I  34  106 

Total  38  109 

     

 

Significant agreement with related parties 

 

Tolling Agreement 

 

On 14 November 2017 the Company entered into Tolling Agreement with G Steel whereby the Company (the metallic 

owner) shall supply the primary metallic and delivery to the plant and G Steel (the operator) shall process and convert 

metallic to Hot Roll Coils (HRC) extend to deliver such HRC to the Company’s customers in according to the 

Company’s sale order. Tolling agreement is valid one year from the contract date and automatically renew for another 

year if there is no notice of termination prior to expiration of 90 days. Its service fee shall be charged based on 

contractual prices. Later on 17 December 2018 the Company made a written notice of cancellation in advance with the 

agreement effective until 31 January 2019.  

 

Other contracts 

 

In year 2013, the Company entered into a memorandum with OAC to accept the liabilities arising from the 

compromise debt agreement with Master Steel Co., Ltd. amounting to Baht 17.91 million by exchange with 

the transfer G Steel’s shares of 35.82 million shares which held by OAC at the agreed price of Baht 0.50 per 

share to Master Steel Co., Ltd. 

 

In addition, the Company settled a labour case with a former employee at the Central Labour Court. Under 

this agreement, the Company agreed to transfer G Steel’s shares of 33 million shares which held by OAC to 

the former employee at an agreed price of Baht 0.45 per share, amounting to Baht 14.85 million and OAC 

agreed to guarantee the share price at Baht 0.45 per share in 90 days from the transferred share date 

(“guarantee period”). 

 

Therefore, the Company entered into a memorandum with OAC to accept the liabilities arising from the 

compromised debt agreement in amounting of Baht 32.76 million. The such debt shall be mature on 30 June 

2014. On 5 June 2015, the Company paid to OAC for the amount of Baht 29.54 million which the 

outstanding debts remained at Baht 3.22 million.  
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On 13 January 2014, OAC deposited the G Steel’s shares of 102.3 million shares to Legal Execution 

Department as a guarantor under the compromise debt agreement to transfer additional G Steel’s shares of 

102.3 million shares at market price of Baht 0.10 per share to the former employee (the market price based 

on at the end of guarantee period date).  

 

In addition, on the same date (13 January 2014), the Company entered into a memorandum with OAC to 

accept additional liabilities of Baht 10.23 million. This obligation will be due on the date of 30 June 2014. 

Currently, the Company is on the process of extension period of the memorandum with OAC. 

 

Significant matter with related parties 

 

On 7 May 2014, OAC enters into a transfer of assets for debt repayment contract with Shareholder of  

G Steel to agree for partial debt repayment against with the transferring ownership of the Company’s 

shares of 4,125 million shares and the Company’s warrants of 687 million units which were held by 

OAC. In September 2014, G Steel had transferred ownership of the Company’s shares of 1,500 million 

shares to other non-related company, resulting to G Steel held 20.79% shareholding in the Company. 

 

In June and July 2017, G Steel sold the shares held in the Company of 100 million shares as a result G 

Steel shareholding in the Company reduced to 20.05% before the share capital increase. After the share 

capital increase, as at 31 December 2017 the percentage of shareholding in the Company of G Steel and 

GS Securities is 18.72%. 

 

Later in March 2018, G Steel’s a financial supporter compulsory pledge shares held in the Company of 

200 million shares by GS Securities to guarantee G Steel to repay G Steel’s liabilities. After the forced 

sale of shares, as at 31 December 2018 the percentage of shareholding in the Company of G Steel and GS 

Securities is 17.29 %. 

 

6 Cash and cash equivalents 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Cash at banks - Saving Account  201  578 

Cash at banks - Current Account  -  - 

Total  201  578 

 

The currency denomination of cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 was as 

follows: 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Thai Baht (THB)  197  572 

United States Dollars (USD)  4  6 

Total  201  578 
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7 Trade accounts receivable 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Connected persons or related parties  -  - 

Other persons or parties  431  450 

Total  431  450 

Less  allowance for doubtful accounts  (417)  (417) 

Net  14  33 

(Reversal) Bad and doubtful debts expenses  

 for the year 

  

- 

  

- 

 

Aging analyses for trade accounts receivable were as follows: 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Connected persons or related parties     

Overdue :      

Less than 3 months  -  - 

Over 12 months  -  - 

  -  - 

     

Other persons or parties     

Not Overdue  -  - 

Overdue :      

Less than 3 months  14  32 

Over 12  months  417  418 

  431  450 

Less allowance for doubtful accounts  (417)  (417) 

Net  14  33 

     

Total  14  33 

 

The normal credit terms granted by the Company are cash and not over 7 working days for domestic 

sales, and cash and letter of credit at sight for export sales.  
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In year 2013, an account receivable due from related party subrogated the amounts, the receivable owed 

to a creditor of Baht 172 million in exchange with another receivable in the same amount. The account 

receivable subrogated also is the creditor of the Company in the greater amount than the receivable 

amount owe to the Company. On 20 November 2017, the Company entered into a debt settlement 

agreement with such debtor (“Party”). The Party agreed to pay the debt of Baht 172 million, which the Party 

was debtor, to settlement from debt of Baht 181 million, which the party was creditor and the Company 

agreed to pay the remaining amount of Baht 9 million within 7 March 2018. 

 

The gross and net balance due from the Non-performing Domestic Customer as at 31 December 2018 and 

2017 are shown in the table below:   

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Account receivables    

- Customer 1 352  352 

- Customer 2 65  65 

 417  417 

Less allowance for doubtful accounts (417)  (417) 

Net -  - 

 

The Company had no sales transactions for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 with the Non-

Performing Domestic Customers. 

 

  In July 2013, the Company filed complaints against the Non-performing domestic Customers with Civil 

Court for breach of sale and purchase agreements. 

 

On 21 October 2013 the Civil Court ordered the Customer 1 to pay the amount of Baht 423 million and 

interest at 7.5% p.a. of the principal of Baht 352 million since filing date until the settlement date. 

However the Customer 1 could not paid as per the judgment debt. On 17 November 2016, the Customer 1 

had a registration for dissolution. The Company has been sent the first notice of debt repayment on 29 

June 2018 and the second notice of debt repayment on 7 August 2018. Later on 24 August 2018 the 

Company filed the a lawsuit to the Customer 1 against the Central Bankruptcy Court to ask the court to 

order and seize the Customer 1’s asset and request the Customer 1 is bankruptcy. On 1 November 2018 

the Court had ordered to seize the Customer 1’s asset, which on December 28, 2018, the Company has 

already filed an application for payment of debt and the Official Receiver has ordered an appointment to 

inspect the application of payment on 25 February 2019.   



 
G J Steel Public Company Limited  

Notes to the financial statements  

For the year ended 31 December 2018 

35 

 

On 3 March 2014, the Company had made the compromise agreement with Customer 2 to pay the amount 

of Baht 78 million (principal amount of Baht 65 million and interest amount of Baht 13 million) by 

installation payment commencing on 25 March 2014 to 25 August 2016. However, the Customer 2 was 

defaulted the payments. However from year 2015 to the present the Company traced the land of the 

Customer 2 with Land Department, and not found their property. On 27 October 2017, the Company filed 

a lawsuit to Customer 2 against the Bankruptcy Court to ask Customer 2 to pay the debts to the Company 

in the amount of Baht 78 million and interest at 7.5% p.a. of the principal from the date of 25 March 2014. 

On 18 December 2017, the Court has ordered to seize the Customer 2’s asset. On 24 January 2018, the 

Company has filed a request for payment with the Official Receiver and the official debt investigation was 

completed on 8 May 2018, and the Customer 2 did not come to the meeting of the creditor as informed by 

the Official Receiver.  And the creditors who filed an application for payment of debt have voted to 

request the Court to adjudge the debtor to be bankrupt.  
 

    In June 2018, the Company filed a lawsuit against to a debtor who is a related party to the Civil Court, 

which had paid in partial payment and ignore the payment of the remaining debt to the Company in 

amount of Baht 62 million together with the interest 7.5% p.a. counting from the filing date until the 

payment is completed. During in 3rd quarter of 2018, the Company and the debtor could not be finalized 

the mediation therefore the Company had set up the allowance for doubtful accounts in a full amount of 

in the 3rd quarter of 2018. Later during the Court’s trial, the debtor agreed to pay the debt to the Company 

in amount of Baht 62 million. The Company therefore filed a petition to withdraw the lawsuit on 24 

December 2018 and reversed the allowance for doubtful accounts of the debtor in a whole amount in the 

4th quarter 2018. 
 

The currency denomination of trade accounts receivable, gross amount as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 

was as follows: 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Thai Baht (THB)  431  450 

United States Dollars (USD)  -  - 

Total  431  450 
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8 Inventories 
 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Finished goods 1,132  1,511 

Work in process 4  3 

Raw materials 1,507  437 

Consumables 427  213 

Spare part 294  247 

Goods in transit 689  900 

Total 4,053  3,311 

Less allowance for devaluation of inventories (192)  (32) 

Net 3,861  3,279 

    

Carrying value of inventories pledged to secure liabilities 327  126 

 

9 Short-term loan to related party 
 

On March 30, 2017, the Company has entered to short-term loan agreement to G Steel in the credit 

facilities of Baht 94 million by which the principal and interest are to be repaid within the period of 6 

months with interest rate at 12.5% p.a. On 22 September 2017, the Company agreed to extend repayment 

period for principal and interest within 15 November 2017.  
 

On 14 November 2017, G Steel has filed a petition for business rehabilitation with the Central Bankruptcy 

Court to prevent G Steel from falling into bankruptcy due to G Steel has been in default since the 

economic crisis in 2008 and there is a risk of being sued or bankrupt by judgment of the creditor. The 

Central Bankruptcy Court accepted the petition for business rehabilitation on 15 November 2017. Later on 

24 December 2018 the Court ordered the dismissal of the request for rehabilitation of G Steel. At present, 

G Steel is in the process of procuring external sources of funds. G Steel therefore wishes to extend the 

term of the new loan to 15 May 2019. Subsequently, on 14 January 2019, the Company agreed to extend 

the repayment period with interest within 15 May 2019. For such financial assistance to G Steel by 

extending the term of the original loan is according to the resolution of the Company’s Board of Directors 

meeting on 14 January 2019. By the way, the management believes that G Steel will be able to repay the 

loan back to the Company. Therefore, the Company does not consider the allowance for doubtful 

accounts. 
 

However, the Company still ceases to recognize interest income since 15 November 2017, whereby the 

Company will recognize interest income only when the Company receives interest payments from G 

Steel. 
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10 Other current assets 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

 Note (in million Baht) 

Suspense input tax  16  21 

Accrued interest receivable related party 5 5  5 

Prepaid expense and others   197  132 

  218  158 

      

Advance to suppliers     

Connected persons or related parties 5 8  187 

Other connected persons or parties  53  149 

  61  336 

Less allowance for doubtful account  (11)  (100) 

Net  50  236 

     

Total  268  394 

(Reversal) Bad and doubtful debts expenses 

for the year  

 

10 

  

- 
 

On 10 August 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors meeting has approved for write-off the advance 

payment to suppliers and allowance for doubtful account of Baht 99 million because the Company was in 

breach of contract therefore the said advance payment to suppliers was confiscated. 

 

11 Advance payment for purchase of property, plant and equipment 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Advance for purchase land 210  210 

Advance for purchase machinery 54  54 

Total 264  264 

Less allowance for impairment (54)  (54) 

Net 210  210 

 

On 29 September 2015, the Company and the land seller agreed to mortgage 5 land title deeds which are 

presented as part of advances for purchase of property, plant and equipment amounting to Baht 210 million 

as collateral to Revenue Department, as security of tax installment for both of the Company and G Steel was 

amounting to Baht 330 million (For the Company was amounting to Baht 206 million) (as described to the  

financial statement in Note 20). 
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12 Property, plant and equipment 
 

 Land                

 and land    Machinery and  Furniture  Office    Construction   

 improvements  Building  equipment  and fixtures  equipment  Vehicles  in progress  Total 

    (in million Baht)  

Cost                

As at 31 December 2017 858  6,245  17,930  13  146  5  6,776  31,973 

Additions  8  2  10  -  21  -  40  81 

Disposals / Write-off -  -  (7)  -  (1)  -  -  (8) 

Transfers -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

As at 31 December 2018 866  6,247  17,933  13  166  5  6,816  32,046 

                

Accumulated depreciation                

As at 31 December 2017 37  4,178  9,362  13  132  2  -  13,724 

Depreciation charge for the year 5  92  777  -  6  -  -  880 

Disposals / Write-off -  -  (7)  -  (1)  -  -  (8) 

As at 31 December 2018 42  4,270  10,132  13  137  2  -  14,596 

                

Allowance for loss on impairment                

As at 31 December 2017 23  76  390  -  -  -  3,122  3,611 

Disposals / Write-off -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

As at 31 December 2018 23  76  390  -  -  -  3,122  3,611 

                

Net book value                

As at 31 December 2017 798  1,991  8,178  -  14  3  3,654  14,638 

                

As at 31 December 2018  801  1,901  7,411  -  29  3  3,694  13,839 
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Details of construction in progress as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Galvanizing line   5,038  5,038 

Reversing Mill line  1,525  1,525 

Others  253  212 

Total  6,816  6,775 

 

The cost of the Company’s fully depreciated plant and equipment that was still in use is amounted to Baht 

936 million as at 31 December 2018 (2017: Baht 919 million). 

 

The Company has the assets under finance lease agreements in the original cost and its accumulated 

depreciation as follows: 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Cost of finance lease assets  2.95  2.95 

Less Accumulated depreciation  (0.47)  - 

 Net book value  2.48  2.95 

 

Impairment evaluation 

 

In determination of assets impairment, the management of the Company has verified various factors and 

concluded that there is no factor indicated the value of property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 

2018 and 2017 may be impaired. And in December 2016, the management of the Company has retained an 

independent appraiser to evaluate the value of the land, buildings and equipment as at 31 December 2016 

together with the assessing value in use of the assets by the Company’s management. It concluded that as 

at 31 December 2018 and 2017 there is no factor indicated that the book value of the land, buildings and 

equipment may be impaired. 

 

The discounted rate (before tax) for determination is 10.50% per annum in year 2018 and 12.92% per 

annum in year 2017. 
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Mortgaged property, plant and equipment 

 

Under the rehabilitation plan and long-term loan from a foreign company 

 

As at 31 December 2018 the Company’s property, plant and equipment, with a net book value of Baht 

8,451 million, were mortgaged under the rehabilitation plan and mortgaged as security for loan creditor 

from a foreign company (2017: Baht 9,215 million). 

 

The Company filed a lawsuit to Southern Bangkok Civil Court against three defendants, in their capacities 

of bondholder trustee and security agent, to release the lien and security interests on the Company’s 

property, plant and equipment which were held by them to secure payment of the bond issued by the 

Company in the past, which had been fully paid. On 28 October 2013, the Southern Bangkok Civil Court 

ruled in favour of the Company ordering the defendants to release the mortgaged assets. One of the 

defendants negotiated for make compromise agreement with the Company to release of the mortgaged 

assets and appealed to Southern Bangkok Civil Court to compromise the case. 

 

On 6 May 2014, the Appeals Court has ruled the compromise agreement between the Company and one 

defendant that the defendant shall release the mortgaged collateral to the Company. At present the 

Company is in the process of redemption the collateral. 

 

Currently, two defendants of them have released the mortgaged assets. 

 

As described to the financial statements in Note 42.3 on 6 January 2017, the Company’s Board of 

Directors meeting had approved the mortgaged most of land, plant and machinery for second ranking 

secure from facility of long-term loan from a foreign company for facility amount of USD 71 million in 

mortgage amount of Baht 4,022 million. Later on 13 November 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors 

meeting has approved to increase the total mortgage amount to Baht 6,619 million. 

 

Mortgaged as security for tax liabilities 

 

On 14 May 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors approved to mortgage its machinery (Pickle and  

oil line), with a net book value of Baht 695 million as at 31 December 2018 (2017: Baht 730 million), as 

security in the facilities amount of Baht 1,043 million with the Revenue Department for its tax liabilities 

and the Company registered this mortgage transaction with the Central Office for Machinery Registration, 

Department of Industrial Works on 10 October 2013.  

 

Later on 9 July 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors had approved to place 5 pieces of land title deed 

to be additional security to Revenue Department. On 29 September 2015, the land had been mortgaged (as 

described to the financial statements in Note 11). 

 

Mortgaged as security for facilities agreement of a local bank 

 

On 13 November 2014, the Company’s Board of Directors approved to mortgage its machinery (the 

Recoil Temper Mill (RTM) and the Acid Regeneration Plant (ARP)), with a net book value of Baht 650 

million as at 31 December 2018 (2017: Baht 694 million), as joint security with G Steel in the facilities 

amount of Baht 602 million with a local bank and the Company registered this mortgage transaction with 

the Central Office for Machinery Registration, Department of Industrial Works on 3 March 2015 for the 

mortgaged amount of Baht 480 million. 
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13 Intangible assets 

 

 Computer 

software 

licences  

Production 

licences  Total 

 (in million Baht) 

Cost      

As at 31 December 2017 203  41  244 

Additions 3  -  3 

Disposals / Write-off -  -  - 

As at 31 December 2018 206  41  247 

      

Amortisation      

As at 31 December 2017 197  33  230 

Amortisation charge for the year 2  1  3 

Disposals / Write-off -  -  - 

As at 31 December 2018 199  34  233 

      

Allowance for loss on impairment      

As at 31 December 2017 -  8  8 

Increase (Decrease) -  (1)  (1) 

As at 31 December 2018 -  7  7 

      

Net book value      

As at 31 December 2017 6  -  6 

      

As at 31 December 2018 7  -  7 
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14 Deferred Tax 

 

Deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences and unused tax losses that have not been recognised 

in the financial statements were as follows:   

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Deductible temporary differences    

-  Allowance for doubtful accounts - trade accounts 

receivable 

 

83 

  

83 

-  Allowance for devaluation of inventories 38  6 

-  Allowance for impairment - advance to suppliers  2  20 

-  Allowance for impairment losses on property, plant and 

equipments 

 

722 

  

722 

-  Allowance for impairment - intangible assets 1  2 

-  Depreciation gap 429  358 

-  Allowance for impairment - advance for purchase of 

machinery 

 

11 

  

11 

-  Allowance for impairment - other non-current assets 411  411 

-  Provision for loss on confirmed purchase orders for 

undelivered raw material 

 

8 

  

- 

-  Provision for employee benefits 16  14 

 1,721  1,627 

Loss carry forward 562  762 

Total  2,283  2,389 

 

The tax losses expire in 2018 to 2022. The deductible temporary differences do not expire under current 

tax legislation. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in the financial statements of the Group and 

the Company in respect of these items because it is not certain that future taxable profit will be generated 

against which the Group and the Company can utilise the benefits there from. 
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15 Other non-current assets 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Suspended construction in progress  2,086  2,086 

Less allowance for impairment  (2,053)  (2,053) 

  33  33 

     

Cash guarantee for the electricity usage  33  - 

Restricted deposits at financial institutions  1  1 

Deferred cost of roll - net  218  253 

Refundable deposits  2  18 

Cash seized for execution  -  5 

Others  43  3 

Net  330  313 

 

Suspended construction in progress 

 

Suspended construction in progress represented the Direct Reduced Iron plant (“DRI Facility”). The 

management of the Company decided to suspend this project in 1999. The carrying value of this 

investment was written down to its independently appraised forced sale value based on the market price of 

steel scrap of Baht 44 million. On 29 July 2014, the Board of investment (“BOI”) had ordered the 

revocation of privilege in the production of Direct Reduced Iron. However there is no burden of import 

duty on machinery and raw materials. And in year 2015, the management had reconsidered the estimated 

recoverable amount of assets the recoverable amount is lower than the net book value in the amount of 

Baht 11 million which had already recorded as loss on impairment. 
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16 Interest-bearing liabilities 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

 Note (in million Baht) 

Current     

Trade accounts payable  19    

Secured  194  28 

Unsecured  -  3 

  194  31 

Other payables and accrued expenses      

(unsecured) 20 13  17 

Short-term loan from related party (secured) 5, 17 1,239  1,478 

  1,446  1,526 

     

Non-current     

Long-term loan from related party (secured) 5, 17 1,142  1,511 
     

Total  2,588  3,037 

     

 

The periods to maturity of interest-bearing liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Within one year  1,446  1,526 

After one year but no greater than five years  1,142  1,511 

Total  2,588  3,037 

 

Secured interest-bearing liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were secured on the following assets: 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

 Note (in million Baht) 

Inventories 8 191  38 

Total  191  38 
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The currency denomination of interest-bearing liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as 

follows: 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Thai Baht (THB)  13  17 

United States Dollars (USD)  2,575  3,020 

Total  2,588  3,037 

 

17 Loan from the related party 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

 Note (in million Baht) 

Loan 1st USD 30 million 42.3.1 979  1,347 

 (2017: USD 41 million)     

Loan 2nd USD 5 million 42.3.1 163  164 

Loan 3rd USD 38 million 42.3.2 1,239  1,314 

 (2017: USD 40 million)     

Loan 4st USD 5 million 42.3.2 -  164 

Total  2,381  2,989 

     

Shot-term loan from related party 42.3.2 1,239  1,478 

Deduct Deferred cost of financing loan  -  (2) 

  1,239  1,476 

     

Long-term loan from related party 42.3.1 1,142  1,511 

Deduct Deferred cost of financing loan  (24)  (32) 

  1,118  1,479 

Total  2,357  2,955 

 

The movement of loan from related party for the year ended 31 December 2018 is as follow; 

 

  (in million Baht) 

At 31 December 2017   2,989 

Deduct  Paid principal during the year  (591) 

Effect of exchange rate  (17) 

Total loan from related party  2,381 

Deduct Deferred cost of financing loan  (24) 

Loan from related party - Net   

At 31 December 2018   2,357 
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The currency denomination of loan from related party as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

United States Dollars (USD)  2,381  2,989 

Total  2,381  2,989 

 

18 Finance lease obligation 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Finance lease obligation     

Vehicle  2.01  2.51 

Deduct Deferred interest  (0.20)  (0.31) 

  1.81  2.20 

Deduct Current portion  (0.42)  (0.39) 

  Finance lease obligation - net  1.39  1.81 

 

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Company has finance lease obligation with the period of payment as 

follows: 

 

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

  
 

Principal 
 

Deferred 

interest  
 

 

Total 
 

 

Principal 
 

Deferred 

interest  
 

 

Total 

Payment due 1 year  0.51  (0.09)  0.42  0.50  (0.11)  0.39 

Payment due              

  over 1 year  

 to 5 years 
 

1.50  (0.11)  1.39 

 

2.01  (0.20)  1.81 

Total  2.01  (0.20)  1.81  2.51  (0.31)  2.20 

 

Under the term of lease contracts referred to above, the Company shall have the right to purchase the assets at 

the quoted price at the expiry date of the lease contracts and the Company shall have to comply with certain 

and restriction as specified in the lease contracts. 
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19 Trade accounts payable 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

 Note (in million Baht) 

Connected persons or related parties 5 6  189 

Other persons or parties  2,027  681 

Total   2,033  870 

 

The currency denomination of trade accounts payable as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Thai Baht (THB)  1,063  740 

United States Dollars (USD)  970  128 

Euro Dollars (EUR)  -  2 

Total  2,033  870 

 

The Company has agreements to purchase raw materials from various suppliers. The Company withdraw 

raw materials and had not yet paid for the raw materials under consignment agreements totalling Baht  

313 million as at 31 December 2018, the Company had to pay interest on the payable balance at the rate of 

3 - 6% per annum (2017: Baht 198 million, interest rate at 1% per annum).  

 

20 Other payables and accrued expenses 

  

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

 Note (in million Baht) 

Current     

Connected persons or related parties 5 14  16 

Tax installments payable  174  174 

Electricity payable  115  154 

Other  358  380 

  661  724 

  

   

Non-Current     

Tax installments payable  58  232 

Total  719  956 
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Tax instalment payable 

 

Revenue Department 
 

As at 31 December 2018, the Company has outstanding balance of tax installment payable amounting to 

Baht 232 million (included additional full amount of surcharge, according to the Revenue code 

amounting to Baht 216 million) which presented as current liabilities of Baht 174 million and non-current 

liabilities of Baht 58 million. 
 

Under this repayment schedule, the Company mortgaged its 1 plot of land and construction, pickle and oil 

line as collateral together with the guaranteed by another company. 
 

As at 31 December 2018, the Company shall pay the above outstanding balance with the total 16 

installments at Baht 14.52 million in each installment. 
 

Other liabilities 
 

On 17 July 2015, the Company entered into compromising agreement with the above supporting 

customer, in which the Company had to pay amount of Baht 101.67 million as follow; 
 

- Monthly repayment of Baht 1.5 million commencing 28 August 2015 to 28 July 2016. 

- Monthly repayment of Baht 2.0 million commencing 28 August 2016 to 28 December 2017. 

- Repayment of remaining on 28 January 2018. 
 

Any default of the installment payment is deemed to default and has to repayment of remaining 

immediately and the Company has to pay interest at 7.5% p.a. until completion of repayment loan 

balance. 
 

On 25 January 2018, the Company has fully paid the remaining debts of Baht 49.7 million. 
 

The currency denomination of other payables and accrued expenses as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 

were as follows: 
 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Thai Baht (THB)  636  903 

United States Dollars (USD)  72  29 

Euro Dollars (EUR)  11  24 

Total  719  956 
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21 Accrued interest 
 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

 Note (in million Baht) 

Other payables and accrued expenses 5, 20 5  8 

Liabilities under rehabilitation plan 23 93  87 

Long-term loan from related party 5, 17 34  106 

Total  132  201 

 

The currency denomination of accrued interest as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 was as follows: 
 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Thai Baht (THB)  45  48 

United States Dollars (USD)  81  147 

Euro Dollars (EUR)  4  4 

Singapore Dollars (SGD)  2  2 

Total  132  201 

 

22 Other current liabilities 
 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Payable for machinery   -  15 

Liabilities related to taxes  19  10 

Construction payables  12  13 

Total  31  38 

 

The currency denomination of other current liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 
 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Thai Baht (THB)  19  10 

United States Dollars (USD)  10  26 

Euro Dollars (EUR)  2  2 

Total  31  38 
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23 Liabilities under rehabilitation plan 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Balance - beginning of the year  204  226 

Paid during the year  (6)  (13) 

Exchange rate adjustments during the year  (1)  (9) 

Transfer to gain on debt restructuring  (1)  - 

Write-off the expired legal prescription of   

 liabilities  

 

(16) 

  

- 

Balance - end of the year  180  204 

 

Liabilities under rehabilitation plan as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were included in the financial 

statements as follows: 

 

   As at 31 December 

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Creditors  Due date    

Class 4 Employee July 2015 4  4 

Class 5  Equipment Claims October 2011 10  10 

Class 11 Operating Fund Creditors 

 Provided in the Form 

 of Overdraft 

October 2003 

-  16 

Class 13 Other Creditors October 2011 166  174 

  Total 180  204 

 

The repayment schedules of each creditor under Class 5 and Class 13 are not entirely consistent in terms of 

date, as they depend on the date of the conclusion of the debt. However, the first due date of creditors 

under Class 5 and Class 13 is 31 October 2011. 

 

Although a repayment of creditors under Class 11 was due in October 2003, the repayment schedule of 

these creditors was conditional upon those creditors continuing to provide overdraft facilities to the 

Company equal to the total debt under Class 11. However, the Company has not received any such 

overdraft facility from the creditors under Class 11, and therefore, the repayment condition imposed on 

these creditors has not been satisfied. 
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The Company’s rehabilitation plan liabilities were duly on 31 October 2011 but fell into default. The 

Company entered into negotiations with the creditors to extend the payment period. Accordingly, the 

Company presented the outstanding liabilities under rehabilitation plan as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 

as current liabilities in the Company’s statement of financial position. As a consequence of this default, the 

outstanding balances are payable on demand and accrue interest at a rate of 7.5% per annum from the date 

of default. 

 

Since year 2015 to the date of the report, 5 suppliers filed a complaint against the Company for breach of 

the rehabilitation plan. 1 supplier with the litigation amount of Baht 1 million together with interest at the 

rate of 7.5% per annum from the date of filing the complaint until the date of full repayment is on the 

Court process and 4 suppliers with the litigation amount of Baht 5 million have been compromised and 

settled. 

 

The currency denomination of liabilities under rehabilitation plan as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 was 

as follows: 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Thai Baht (THB)  78  101 

United States Dollars (USD)  90  91 

Euro Dollars (EUR)  8  9 

Singapore Dollars (SGD)  4  3 

Total  180  204 

 

24 Provision 

 

The movement of provision for loss in obligation on not receive raw materials purchase order, for the year 

ended 31 December 2018 was as follows: 

 

 Note (in million Baht) 

   

At 31 December 2017   - 

Increase in year  41 

At 31 December 2018  40.3 41 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Current 41  - 

Non-current -  - 

Total 41  - 

 



 
G J Steel Public Company Limited 
Notes to the financial statements  

For the year ended 31 December 2018 

 52 

 

The currency denomination of provision as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 was as follows: 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Thai Baht (THB)  -  - 

United States Dollars (USD)  41  - 

Total  41  - 

 

25 Employee benefit obligations 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Statement of financial position obligations for:     

Post-employment benefits  80  72 

Total  80  72 

 

Year ended 31 December 2018  2017 

 (in million Baht) 

Statement of comprehensive income    

   recognised in profit or loss:    

Post-employment benefits 8  4 

Total 8  4 

 

An unfunded plan based on Thai labour law 

 

The Company has an employee pension scheme based on the requirement of Thai Labour Protection Act 

B.E. 2541 (1998) to provide retirement benefits to employees based on length of service and rights. 

 

The statement of financial position obligation was determined as follows: 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Present value of unfunded obligations  80  72 

Statement of financial position obligation  80  72 
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Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligations: 

 

Year ended 31 December  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Defined benefit obligations at 1 January  72  54 

Paid benefit  -  (2) 

Current service costs and interest  8  4 

Loss on defined employee benefit plans  -  16 

Defined benefit obligations at 31 December  80  72 

 

Expense recognised in profit or loss: 

 

Year ended 31 December 2018  2017 

 (in million Baht) 

Current service costs 8  4 

Total 8  4 

 

The expense is recognised in the following line items in the statement of comprehensive income: 

 

Year ended 31 December 2018   2017 

 (in million Baht) 

Cost of sales and administrative expenses 8  4 

Total 8  4 

 

Total actuarial losses (gains) were recognised in other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 

December 2017 amounted of losses Baht 16 million. 

 

Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date:  

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (%) 

Discount rate 2.8 per year  2.8 per year 

Future salary increases rate 5.0 - 7.0  5.0 - 7.0 

Turnover rate 5.0 - 10.0*  5.0 - 10.0* 

Mortality rate TMO 17**  TMO 17** 

 

* Base on the weighted average by age group of employee  

** Reference from TMO 17 : Thai Mortality Ordinary Tables of 2017 
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Sensitivity analysis of significant actuarial assumptions 

 

Significant actuarial assumptions for sensitivity analysis are discount rate, salary increase rate and 

employee turnover rate, while holding all other assumptions constant. The sensitivity analysis of change in 

the relevant actuarial assumption that were reasonably possible as of 31 December 2018 as follows: 

 

- If the discount rate increases (decreases) by 1.0%, the employee benefit obligation decrease Baht 

8.35 million (increase Baht 9.85 million). 

 

- If the salary increase rate increases ( decreases)  by 1.0%, the employee benefit obligation 

increase Baht 9.52 million (decrease Baht 8.26 million). 

 

- If the employee turnover rate increases ( decreases)  by 10.0%, the employee benefit obligation 

decrease Baht 4.72 million (increase Baht 5.11 million). 

 

In presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value of the employee benefit obligation has been 

calculated by using the same method that applied in calculating the employee benefit obligation 

recognized in the statement of financial position. 

 

On December 13, 2018, the National Legislative Assembly approved draft of Labour Protection Act. The 

main point is increasing the rate of benefit of an employee who has past service 20 years or more from 

300 days to 400 days. At the present, the draft is in the process of announcement in the Government 

Gazette. If the Act is effective, the provisions for employee benefits of the Company which calculated up 

to December 31, 2018 will increase by approximately amount of Baht 19.2 million. The amount shall be 

recorded as expense in the statement of income on the effective date of the Act. 

 

26 Share capital 

 

The movements of share capital for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 

 

 Note Par value 2018  2017 

  per share Number  Baht  Number  Baht 

  (in Baht) (million shares /  

in million Baht) 

 (million shares /  

in million Baht) 

Authorised           

At 1 January           

Ordinary shares  6.90 18,738  129,298  14,947  103,138 

Increase of authorised share capital 26.1  -  -  3,791  26,160 

At 31 December         

Ordinary shares   6.90 18,738  129,298  18,738  129,298 
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 Note Par value 2018  2017 

  per share Number  Baht  Number  Baht 

  (in Baht) (million shares /  

in million Baht) 

 (million shares /  

in million Baht) 

Issued and paid up          

At 1 January          

Ordinary shares  6.90 13,928  96,104  10,585  73,039 

Debt-to-equity conversion 26.1, 26.2  -  -  3,343  23,065 

At 31 December        

Ordinary shares   6.90 13,928  96,104  13,928  96,104 

 

Share premium (discount)  

 

The movement of share premium (discount) during the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are 

shown in the table below: 

 

 Note 2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Share premium (discount)     

At 1 January   (61,757)  (39,829) 

Debt-to-equity conversion 26.2 -  (21,928) 

At 31 December  (61,757)  (61,757) 

 

 

26.1 The allocation and offering of the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company under to the 

debt-to-equity conversion scheme 

 

On 30 August 2017, the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting No. 1/2017 had approved as the 

following issues: 

 

1. Approved the debt-to-equity conversion scheme through the allocation and offering of not more 

than 3,343,000,000 newly issued ordinary shares, at the par value of Baht 6.90 per share to new 

creditor as repayment of the net trade debts to who is the new creditor as described to the 

financial statement in Note 1.3 in amount of USD 32.34 million and interest payable which shall 

be converted to equity in amount of USD 0.59 million, the total debts be converted to equity 

shall be USD 32.93 million, or equivalent to Baht 1,136.54 million where the conversion price 

will be fixed at Baht 0.34 per share, and the aggregation shall be not greater than Baht 1,136.62 

million.  

 

2. Approved the capital increase of the Company’s registered capital by not more than Baht 

26,160,481,980, from the existing registered capital of Baht 103,137,868,438.50, to the new 

registered capital of Baht 129,298,350,418.50 by issuing not more than 3,791,374,200 newly 

issued ordinary shares, at the par value of Baht 6.90 per share for (1) to accommodate the 

allocation and offering of the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company under to the debt-to-

equity conversion scheme, (2) to accommodate the rights adjustment pursuant to the Terms and 

Conditions, and Rights of the Issuers and Holders of the Warrants to Purchase Ordinary Shares 

No.2, (the “GJS-W2 Warrants”), the Warrants to Purchase Ordinary Shares No.3, (the “GJS-W3 

Warrants”) and the Warrants to Purchase Ordinary Shares No.4, (the “GJS-W4 Warrants”) and 

approve the correction of additional in the Company’s affidavit in clause no.4 in order to 

accommodate the Company’s share register increased.  
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On 21 September 2017, the Company was registered the increase of the Company’s registered 

capital with the Ministry of Commerce. 

 

3. Approved the allocation and offering of the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company by 

issuing not more than 3,791,374,200 newly issued ordinary shares, at the par value of Baht 6.90 

per share and assign to the board of the Company’s directors and/or Chief Executive Officer 

and/or the person who the board of the Company’s directors and/or Chief Executive Officer has 

been assigned, has the authority to consider the details of related the said allocation and offering 

of the newly issued ordinary shares by which the details of: 

 

3.1 The allocation not more than 3,343,000,000 newly issued ordinary shares, at the par value 

of Baht 6.90 per share to new creditor where the conversion price will be fixed at Baht 0.34 

per share, and the aggregation shall be not greater than Baht 1,136.62 million for paying net 

trade debt of USD 32.93 million or Baht 1,136.54 million under to the debt-to-equity 

conversion scheme. As a result, new creditor will become a majority shareholder of the 

Company with a shareholding of 24% of the total issued shares and indirect shareholding 

through G Steel of 18.97% of the total issued shares of the Company (after finish to 

increase the Company’s issued and paid up share register). The said allocation and offering 

of the Company's newly issued ordinary shares under to the debt-to-equity conversion 

scheme, it is a transaction with the person who will have control over the company which is 

a connected transaction with the listed company in according to the notification of 

Securities and Exchange Commission Thailand (SEC) no. Tor Jor 21/2008, Re:  The 

Criteria For Connected Transaction and the Notification of SEC, Re: Disclosure of 

Information and Other Acts of Listed Companies Concerning the Connected Transactions 

in 2003 (as amended) (“the Notification of Connected Transaction”), whereby the 

transaction size is 8.81% of the Company’s Net Tangible Assets (NTA) as of 31 March 

2017 which is greater than Baht 20 million or 3% of the Company’s NTA. The Company is 

required to disclose its information to the SET and take various actions include the 

following actions: 

 

• Disclose information on the connected transections of the Company to the SET pursuant 

to the Connected Transection Notifications; 

 

• Obtain approval by the Company’s shareholders meeting with a vote of not less than 

three-fourths of the total votes of the shareholders attending the meeting and having the 

right to vote; 

 

• Appointment of independent financial advisor to perform relevant duties including the 

commentary as stated in the Notification of Connected Transaction, the Company will 

appoint JWS Financial Advisory Co., Ltd. as an independent financial advisor to 

perform various duties under the Notification of Connected Transaction. 
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In addition, the allocation and offering of new ordinary shares of the Company under to the 

Debt-to-Equity Conversion Scheme at Baht 0.34, the offering price is 35.50% discount of 

the market price which is over than 10% of market price in according to the Notification of 

SEC no. Tor Jor 72/2015, Re: Allowing Listed Companies to Offer Newly Issued Shares to 

a Limited Person (as amended) (the “Tor Jor 72/2015 Notification”). In this regards, the 

said allocation and offering of new ordinary shares of the Company under to the Debt-to-

Equity Conversion Scheme has to get the resolution from the company’s shareholders 

meeting with a vote of not less than three-fourths of the total votes of the shareholders 

attending the meeting and having the right to vote and there must not be a total number of 

shareholders from 10% of the total number of shareholders attending the meeting and 

having the right to vote against the offering of share at those price. Furthermore, although 

the Company get the approval from the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting no. 1/2017 

for the allocation and offering of new ordinary shares of the Company to new creditor, the 

Company have to get the approval from Securities and Exchange Commission Thailand 

(SEC) in according to the Tor Jor 72/2015 Notification before offering the newly issued 

ordinary shares to new creditor. 

 

By the way, the offering price above is lower than the Company’s par value, the Company 

shall require to comply with the conditions and is approved by the meeting of shareholders 

of the company as prescribed in section 52 of the Public Company Limited Act B.E. 2535 

(as amended) (the “PLC Act”). In this regard, the Company is able to sell the shares with 

the price lower than the Company’s par value because the Company has loss in the 

Company’s operation more than 1 year and has accumulate loss appeared in the Company’s 

financial statement as at 31 March 2017. 

 

3.2 The allocation of new ordinary shares of the Company not more than 166,799,822 at the 

par value of Baht 6.90 per share, to accommodate the adjustment of rights under the GJS-

W2 Warrants which get the approval from the Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting no. 

1/2009 on 18 December 2009 arising from the allocation and offering of new ordinary 

shares of the Company under to the Debt-to-Equity Conversion Scheme, as detail below: 

 

 Before adjustment After adjustment 

GJS-W2 Warrants   

-  Exercise Price (Baht) 2.070 1.9467 

-  Exercise Ratio 1 Unit : 0.363 Share 1 Unit : 0.386 Share 

 
3.3 The allocation of new ordinary shares of the Company not more than 136,906,049 at the 

par value of Baht 6.90 per share, to accommodate the adjustment of rights under the GJS-

W3 Warrants which get the approval from the Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting no. 

1/2013 on 7 January 2013 arising from the allocation and offering of new ordinary shares 

of the Company under to the Debt-to-Equity Conversion Scheme, as detail below: 

 

 Before adjustment After adjustment 

GJS-W3 Warrants   

-  Exercise Price (Baht) 1.500 1.3722 

-  Exercise Ratio 1 Unit : 0.400 Share 1 Unit : 0.437 Share 
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3.4 The allocation of new ordinary shares of the Company not more than 144,668,329 at the 

par value of Baht 6.90 per share, to accommodate the adjustment of rights under the GJS-

W4 Warrants which get the approval from the Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting no. 

1/2013 on 7 January 2013 arising from the allocation and offering of new ordinary shares 

of the Company under to the Debt-to-Equity Conversion Scheme, as detail below: 

 

 Before adjustment After adjustment 

GJS-W4 Warrants   

-  Exercise Price (Baht) 1.500 1.3722 

-  Exercise Ratio 1 Unit : 0.400 Share 1 Unit : 0.437 Share 

 

4. Approved the allocation and offering of the newly issued ordinary shares of the Company to 

new creditor where the conversion price will be fixed at Baht 0.34 per share, and the 

aggregation shall be not greater than Baht 1,136.62 million for paying net trade debt of USD 

32.93 million or Baht 1,136.54 million under to the Debt-to-Equity which offer newly issued 

shares to a specific investor (Private Placement) at the specific the offering price with a discount 

of more than 10% of market price according to Notification of SEC, Tor Jor 72/2015. 

 

5. Approved the waive from the requirement to make a tender offer for all securities of the business 

(Whitewash) due to new creditor advised the Company that it did not wish to make a tender 

offer for all securities of the Company and that it wished to apply for a waiver from the 

requirement to make a tender offer for all securities of the business by virtue of the resolution of 

the shareholders’ meeting of the Company (Whitewash) in accordance with Notification of the 

Office of the SEC No. Sor Chor 36/2546 Re: Rules for the Application for the Waiver from the 

Requirement to Make a Tender Offer for All Securities of the business by virtue of the 

Resolution of the Shareholder’s Meeting of the Business. 

 

 

26.2 Conversion debt-to-equity 

 

On 21 September 2017 the Company has registered increase share capital by conversion debt of 

USD 32.93 million or equivalent to Baht 1,096 million to share capital of Baht 23,065 million 

(ordinary shares of 3,342,751,016 shares at par value Baht 6.90 per share) to new creditor as 

described to the financial statement in Note 1.3. 

 

Under conversion debt-to-equity, the Company fix the price at Baht 0.34 per share as the fair value 

for conversion debt-to-equity which this price is agreed by both parties together. Resulting to the 

Company has a discounted on ordinary share amounted to Baht 21,928 million and has loss from 

conversion debt-to-equity of Baht 40 million. However, this debt restructuring plan by debt-to-

equity conversion scheme has net gain as described to the financial statement in Note 29. 
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27 Warrants 

 

The movements of warrants for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 

 

 Offering price 2018  2017 
 per unit Unit  Amount  Unit  Amount 

  

(in Baht) 
(million units /  

in million Baht) 

 (million units /  

in million Baht) 

Warrants          

At 1 January          

- Second Warrants (GJS-W2) 0.03 -  -  4,933  148 

- Third Warrants (GJS-W3) 0.00 3,674  -  3,674  - 

- Fourth Warrants (GJS-W4) 0.00 2,754  -  2,754  - 

Movement during the period:         

- Issue of new warrants   -  -  -  - 

- Expiration   -  -  (4,933)  (148) 

At 31 December        

- Second Warrants (GJS-W2) 0.03 -  -  -  - 

- Third Warrants (GJS-W3) 0.00 3,674  -  3,674  - 

- Fourth Warrants (GJS-W4) 0.00 2,754  -  2,754  - 

 

The Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting No. 1/2017 which was held on 30 August 2017 had approved 

the adjustment of exercise price and exercise ratio of the warrant to purchase an ordinary share GJS-W2,  

GJS-W3 and GJS-W4 which effective on 21 September 2017. Details are as follow: 
 

 Before adjustment After adjustment 

GJS-W2 Warrants   

-  Exercise Price (Baht) 2.070 1.9467 

-  Exercise Ratio 1 Unit : 0.363 Share 1 Unit : 0.386 Share 

 

GJS-W3 and GJS-W4 Warrants 
  

-  Exercise Price (Baht) 1.500 1.3722 

-  Exercise Ratio 1 Unit : 0.400 Share 1 Unit : 0.437 Share 

 

Detail of warrants as at 31 December 2018 are as follow: 
 

 GJS- W2 (a) and (c) GJS- W3 (a) GJS- W4 (b) 

Exercise ratio (Unit : Share) 1 : 0.386 1 : 0.437 1 : 0.437 

Price of exercise to     

one Common Share (Baht) 1.9467 1.3722 1.3722 

The first day of exercise 30 December 2010 28 June 2013 28 June 2013 

The last day of exercise 12 December 2017 7 February 2020 11 February 2020 

 

(a)  Listed in The Stock Exchange of Thailand 

(b)  Non-listed in The Stock Exchange of Thailand 

(c)  On 12 December 2017 second warrants of 4,933 million units there was no warrant holders exercise 

and it was canceled by the Stock Exchange of Thailand on the following day. 
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28 Reserves 

 

Appropriations of profit and/or retained earnings 

 

Legal reserve 

 

Section 116 of the Public Companies Act B.E. 2535 requires that a public company shall allocate not less 

than 5% of its annual net profit, less any accumulated losses brought forward, to a reserve account (“legal 

reserve”), until this account reaches an amount not less than 10% of the registered authorised capital. The 

legal reserve is not available for dividend distribution. 

 

Other components of equity 

 

The movements of other components of equity for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as 

follows: 

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Other components     

Cash received from expired warrants      

At 1 January     

- First Warrants (A)  162  162 

- Second Warrants (B)  148  148 

At 31 December  310  310 

 

(A) Upon the cancellation of the 3,234 million units of First Warrants in year 2011, their carrying value 

at Baht 0.05 each was transferred from the warrants component of equity to other components of 

equity for an amount of Baht 162 million. 

 

(B) Upon the cancellation of the 4,933 million units of Second Warrants in year 2017, their carrying 

value at Baht 0.03 each was transferred from the warrants component of equity to other components 

of equity for an amount of Baht 148 million. 

 

29 Net gain from debt restructuring 

 

Details of gain from debt restructuring for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 

 

  2018  2017 

 Note (in million Baht) 

Gain from the Creditor waived the debt 1.3    

 - Accrued interest expenses  1  656 

 - Accrued withholding tax  -  118 

Loss from debt-to-equity conversion 26.2 -  (40) 

Net  1  734 
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30 Net gain from write-off the expired legal prescription of liabilities 

 

On 9 November 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors meeting had approved to write-off the expired 

legal prescription of liabilities of Baht 133 million (comprising of the debt in Euro Dollars (EUR) of 0.11 

million, debt in Pound Sterling (GBP) of 4 thousand, debt in United States Dollars (USD) of 1.24  
million and debt in THB of 84.47 million). 

 

On 19 November 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors meeting had approved to write-off the expired 

legal prescription of receivables of Baht 20 million. However, such receivable is the same as some portion 

of the expired legal prescription of liabilities as described in above. 
 

 

Detail of net gain from write-off the expired legal prescription of liabilities for the year ended 31 

December 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 
 

 

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 
Trade accounts payable  13  - 
Other payables and accrued expenses  93  - 
Accrued interest expenses  2  - 
Liabilities under rehabilitation plan  16  - 
Other current liabilities  17  - 
Other current assets  (5)  - 
Other non-current assets  (17)  - 
Net gain from write-off the expired legal prescription of 

liabilities 
  

119 
  

- 

 

 

31 Operating Segments 

 

Segment information is presented in respect of the Company’s geographical segments based on the 

Company’s management and internal reporting structure. 

 

Business segments 

 

Management considers that the Company operates in a single line of business, namely manufacturing of 

flat-rolled steel products, and has, therefore, only one major business segment. 

 

Geographic segments  

 

In presenting information on the basis of geographic segments, segment revenue is based on the 

geographic location of customers.  
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Revenue and gross profit (loss) based on geographic segment, for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 

2017 were as follows: 

 

  For the year ended 31 December 

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Segment revenue     

Domestic  28,887  15,178 

Oversea  1,023  - 

Total  29,910  15,178 

     

Segment result - gross profit (loss)  282  859 

 

Information about major customers 

 

For the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Company had revenues from the domestic sale to one 

and five customers for the total amount of Baht 4,291 million and Baht 9,314 million respectively. 

 

32 Selling expenses 

 

  For the year ended 31 December 

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Packing expenses  5  5 

Domestic shipping expenses  357  180 

Total  362  185 

 

33 Administrative expenses 

 

  For the year ended 31 December 

  2018  2017 

 Note (in million Baht) 

Idle costs - depreciation and amortisation  

expenses 35 

 

52 

  

51 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses  35 36  41 

Employee benefit expenses 34 279  267 

Professional and consulting fees  40  35 

Others  93  102 

Total  500  496 
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34 Employee benefit expenses  

 

  For the year ended 31 December 

  2018  2017 

 Note (in million Baht) 

Management     

Wages and salaries  29  28 

Welfare  3  4 

Contribution to provident fund  1  1 

 5 33  33 

     

Other employees     

Wages and salaries  382  354 

Welfare  155  151 

Contribution to provident fund  22  21 

 33 559  526 

     

Total  592  559 

 

Defined benefit plans 

 

Details of the defined benefit plans are given to the financial statement in Note 25. 

 

Defined contribution plans 

 

The defined contribution plan comprises a provident fund established by the Company for its employees. 

Membership in the fund is on a voluntary basis. Contributions are made monthly by the employees at rates 

ranging from 2% to 10% of their basic salaries and by the Company at rates ranging from 3% to 10% of 

the employees’ basic salaries. The provident fund is registered with the Ministry of Finance as a juristic 

entity and is managed by a licensed Fund Manager.  
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35 Expenses by nature 

 

The statements of income include an analysis of expenses by function.  Expenses by nature disclosed in 

accordance with the requirements of various TFRS were as follows: 

 

  For the year ended 31 December 

  2018  2017 

 Note (in million Baht) 

Included in cost of sales of goods:     

Changes in inventories of finished goods      

decrease  (increase) 8 379  (1,202) 

Raw materials and consumables used  12,907  10,685 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses   825  941 

Employee benefit expenses 34 283  288 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses     

  (including in idle cost)  84  - 

Employee benefit expenses     

  (including in idle cost) 34 30  - 

     

Included in administrative expenses:     

Depreciation and amortisation expenses     

  (including in idle cost) 33 52  51 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses  33 36  41 

Employee benefit expenses 33, 34 279  267 

Operating lease expense  12  8 

Write off of  assets  -  8 
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36 Finance costs 

 

  For the year ended 31  December 

  2018  2017 

 Note (in million Baht) 

Finance costs     

   - Related party 5 440  91 

   - Other parties  35  180 

Total  475  271 

 

37 Income tax expense 

 

The Company did not record income tax expense in the statement of income because the Company has 

significant losses brought forward from prior years. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in 

respect of these losses as disclosed to the financial statement in Note 14. 

 

The Company used the income tax rate of 20% in the value measurement of deferred tax assets and 

liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 2017. 

 

38 Earnings (loss) per share 

 

Basic earnings (loss) per share 

 

The calculations of basic earnings (loss) per share for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 were 

based on the profit (loss) for the years attributable to equity holders of the Company and the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the years as follows: 

 

  2018  2017 

 Note (in million Baht / million shares) 

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to ordinary 

shareholders of the Company 

 

(836)  990 

     

Number of ordinary shares outstanding at 1 January  13,928  10,585 

Effect from debt-to-equity conversion 26 -  934 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding  13,928  11,519 

     

Basic (earnings) loss per share (in Baht)  (0.060)  0.086 

 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are not presented 

because the exercise price of the Company’s warrants was higher than the market price of the Company’s 

ordinary shares and these potential shares would decrease the earnings (loss) per share. 
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39 Financial instruments 

 

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Company had not entered into any derivative contracts to hedge its 

exposure to foreign currency exchange risk.  

 

Financial risk management policies 

 

The Company is exposed to normal business risks from changes in market interest rates and currency 

exchange rates and from non-performance of contractual obligations by counterparties. The Company does 

not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes. 

 

Capital management 

 

The Board’s intention is to return to a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market 

confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Board is presently seeking additional 

capital investment in order to secure the ongoing viability of the Company. 

 

Interest rate risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the uncertainty in value of financial assets and liabilities or net interest income as a 

result of the fluctuation of the market interest rate. Most of the interest rates of financial assets and 

liabilities of the Company are fixed rates, which are based on contract rates. 

 

The effective interest rates of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 

and the periods to maturity or re-pricing were as follows: 

 

 

  

Effective  

Interest rate 

 

Within 1 

year 

 After 1 year 

but within 5 

years 

  

After 5 

years 

  

 

Total 

 Note (% per annum) (in million Baht) 

2018          

Financial assets :          

Cash and cash equivalents 6 0.37 - 0.50 201  -  -  201 

Restricted deposits at          

   financial institutions 15 1.375 1  -  -  1 

Total   202  -  -  202 

          

Financial liabilities : 16         

Trade accounts payable           

   (with interest - bearing)  3 - 6 194  -  -  194 

Other payable and accrued          

   expenses (with interest          

      - bearing)  7.5 13  -  -  13 

Financial lease obligations  5.28 -  2  -  2 

Loan from related party  12 1,239  1,118  -  2,357 

Total   1,446  1,120  -  2,566 
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Effective  

Interest rate 

 

Within 1 

year 

 After 1 year 

but within 5 

years 

  

After 5 

years 

  

 

Total 

 Note (% per annum) (in million Baht) 

2017          

Financial assets :          

Cash and cash equivalents 6 0.25 - 0.625 578  -  -  578 

Restricted deposits at          

   financial institutions 15 1.375 1  -  -  1 

Total   579  -  -  579 

          

Financial liabilities : 16         

Trade accounts payable           

   (with interest - bearing)  1 31  -  -  31 

Other payable and accrued          

   expenses (with interest bearing)  7.5 17  -  -  17 

Financial lease obligations  5.28 -  2  -  2 

Loan from related party  12 1,478  1,511  -  2,989 

Total   1,526  1,513  -  3,039 

 

Foreign currency rick  

 

The Company in exposed to foreign currency risk relating to purchases and sales which are denominated 

in foreign currencies. 

 

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Company was exposed to foreign currency risk in respect of 

financial assets and liabilities denominated in the following currencies: 

 

  2018  2017 

 Note (in million Baht) 

United States Dollars     

Cash and cash equivalents 6 4  6 

Trade accounts payable 19 (970)  (128) 

Other payables and accrued expenses 20 (72)  (29) 

Accrued interest expenses 21 (81)  (147) 

Other current liabilities 22 (10)  (26) 

Liabilities under rehabilitation plan 23 (90)  (91) 

Loan from related party 17 (2,381)  (2,989) 

Gross exposure in statement of financial position  (3,600)  (3,404) 

     

Estimated forecast purchases  (1,192)  (723) 

Gross exposure  (4,792)  (4,127) 
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  2018  2017 

 Note (in million Baht) 

Euro     

Trade accounts payable 19 -  (2) 

Other payables and accrued expenses 20 (11)  (24) 

Accrued interest expenses 21 (4)  (4) 

Other current liabilities 22 (2)  (2) 

Liabilities under rehabilitation plan 23 (8)  (9) 

Gross exposure in statement of financial position  (25)  (41) 

     

Estimated forecast purchases  (330)  (131) 

Gross exposure  (355)  (172) 
     

Singapore Dollars     

Accrued interest expenses 21 (2)  (2) 

Liabilities under rehabilitation plan 23 (3)  (3) 

Gross exposure in statement of financial position  (5)  (5) 

     

Yen     

Estimated forecast purchases  -  (51) 

Gross exposure  -  (51) 

 

Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the potential financial loss resulting from the failure of a customer or counterparty to settle its 

financial and contractual obligations to the Company as and when they fall due. 

 

At the reporting date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk because the Company has 

seized to give credit terms to customers (Refer to the financial statement in Note 7). The maximum 

exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the statement of 

financial position. 

 

Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk arises from the difficulty in mobilizing funds for timely and adequately meeting 

commitments under financial obligations. Liquidity risk may arise from failure to sell financial assets at a 

price close to the fair value.  

 

The Company has liquidity risk as the Company needs to generate sufficient operating cash flows to meet 

both its working capital requirements and its operating obligations. 
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Determination of fair values 

 

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, 

for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. The fair value is the amount for which an asset 

could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s-length 

transaction. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the 

following methods. When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair 

values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 

 

The fair value of trade and other short-term receivables is taken to approximate the carrying value. 

 

Maturities of financial assets and liabilities 

 

Details of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities have been provided in the relevant notes to the 

financial statements. 

 

40 Commitments with non-related parties 

 

40.1 Commitments 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Lease and service agreement commitments    

Within one year 6  8 

After one year but no greater than five years 4  5 

Total 10  13 

    

Other commitments    

Purchase of fixed assets 107  - 

Bank guarantees 179  157 

Total 284  157 
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40.2 Long-term agreements 

 

- The Company entered into agreement to purchase natural gas. This agreement is effective on 1 

July 2006 and is terminated after the Company has purchased natural gas for ten years since 

supplier has already transferred and the Company has already received natural gas. Natural gas 

rate depend on monthly charges based on consumption. On 1 February 2017, it has been renewed 

for another 2 years. 

 

- On 1 November 2004, the Company entered into a twenty-year take-or-pay agreement to purchase 

oxygen, argon and nitrogen. Minimum payments under the agreement amount to approximately 

Baht 6 million per month. 

 

   As at 31 December  

  2018  2017 

  (in million Baht) 

Long-term agreement commitments   

Within one year 71  71 

After one year but no greater than five years 282  282 

After five years 59  130 

Total 412  483 

 

- On 20 January 2017, the Company entered into agreement for business advisory and review with 

the foreign company for consultancy service in aspect of the capacity utilization efficiency, 

EBITDA and maximized the cash flow with a monthly service fee of USD 41,667. This agreement 

has not specified the termination period but the Company can cancel this agreement with 

immediate effect if given in a written. 

 

40.3 Raw material purchase orders 

 

As at 31 December 2018, the Company had outstanding purchase orders for raw materials that have 

not been delivered to the Company totalling Baht 1,333 million (2017: Baht 1,172 million). As at 31 

December 2018, the Company has estimated the provision for loss in obligation on not receive 

purchase orders for raw materials that have not been delivered approximately Baht 41 million 

(2017: Baht -0- million) based on comparison with the economic benefits expected to be received in 

the form of estimated sales prices and the conversion costs of finished products (Refer to the 

financial statements in Note 24). 

 

As at 31 December 2018, the Company had agreements to purchase raw materials with various 

suppliers under consignment agreements, under which the ownership of unreleased raw material 

belongs to the suppliers. The Company has to pay interest of 3-6% per annum on the unreleased raw 

materials in addition to the payables balance (2017: 1% per annum). 
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40.4 Customer advances 

 

As of 31 December 2018, the Company had received advances from customers totaling Baht 33 

million (2017: Baht 192 million) and had the obligation to deliver goods to the customers in the 

future.  

 

40.5 Financial advisory agreement 
 

The Company has entered into a financial advisory agreement with third party for advice on 

sourcing additional credit facilities and refinancing existing debt from financial institutions. The fees 

are payable based on the rate specified in the agreement. 

 

40.6 Capital restructuring project agreement  

 

The Company has entered into a financial advisory agreement and legal advisory agreement with 

two consultants for the capital restructuring project and entered into an agreement with a brokerage 

agent for collecting of the right issues from the shareholders. The fees are payable based on the rate 

specified in the agreement. 

 

41 Litigation  

 

 41.1  The progress of the lawsuit disputes with several suppliers 

 

Six suppliers filed a complaint against the Company for breach of several agreements related to 

sales and purchases and rehabilitation plan. Presently one supplier with the litigation amount of 

Baht 1 million together with interest at the rate of 7.5% per annum from the date of filing the 

complaint until the date of full repayment are on the Court process and five suppliers with the 

litigation amount of Baht 6 million have been compromised and settled. 
 

41.2 The Second Section of Labour Court 

 

A former employee filed a complaint to the Second Section of the Labour Court against the 

Company for the lay-off and demands the Company to pay him together with interest at the rate 

7.5% per annum from the date of filing. On 12 July 2017, the Company received the Court’s order 

that the Supreme Court has the judgment to dismiss the claim and the Company do not pay 

compensation. 

 

42 Credit facilities for operation 

 

42.1 Presently the Company get collaboration from various raw material suppliers both local and oversea 

with Supplier Credit in term of Collateral Management Agreement (“CMA”), the Company gets 

CMA from 2 oversea raw material suppliers amounting to USD 30 - 120 million and CMA from 1 

local raw material supplier in term of supporting production tonnage by 240,000 tons per year.  
 

The Company has used the supplier credit facilities as working capital for many years to purchase 

of scrap which is the main raw material of the production. 
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42.2 On 25 February 2016, the Company and G Steel have executed the amendment credit facilities with 

the local bank in which the Company received the Bank Guarantee (BG) in the amount of Baht 252 

million. In respect this agreement, the Company and G Steel have to provide securities under the 

aforementioned credit facilities to a local bank as below: 

 

- G Steel will increase the mortgaged amount of the existing mortgaged machine from formerly 

Baht of 475.6 million to the new mortgage of Baht 510 million. 

 

- The Company will mortgage the machinery in 2 items; the Recoil Temper Mill (RTM) and the 

Acid Regeneration Plant (ARP), for the mortgaged amount of Baht 480 million. 

 

As at 31 December 2018, Company has utilized the bank guarantee in amounting of Baht 145 

million (2017: Baht 156 million). 

 

42.3 On 6 January 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors meeting had approved for entering the long-

term loan agreements in the facilities amount not exceeding of USD 111 million not only to solve 

the default long outstanding debt since in year 2012 but also to spend for working capital as the 

summarized transactions in following: 

 

42.3.1 On 22 January 2017, the Company (borrower) has entered the long term loan agreement in 

the facilities amount of USD 71 million with Link Capital I (Mauritius) Limited (lender) 

(previously was non-related party and on 21 September 2017 onwards is considered as related 

party) with the fixed interest rate at 12 p.a., in a period of 5 years and collateral with second 

ranking in mortgage most of land, plant and machinery. The loan facilities are separately in 

2 groups as described below. 

 

1. The first loan facility of USD 41 million for the purpose of repayment of new creditor 

and includes all reimbursement expenses from lender such as due diligence expenses and 

other expenses related the processes to ensure the long term loan agreement completed. 

On 1 February 2017, the Company had drawn down the loan of USD 41 million in order 

to repayment principal and interest payable to new creditor as described to the financial 

statement in Note 1.3. 
 

Later on 7 March 2018 there was an amendment of the loan agreement for the first loan 

facility and the second loan facility on that the Company may prepay the loan before the 

first anniversary of the first draw down in which the Company must give the lender not 

less than 30 days’ written notice of the prepayment, or after the first anniversary of the 

first draw down. After repaid of the first loan facility, the outstanding available of the 

first loan facility allow to transfer and increase in the second loan facility. By the way, 

the time frame that can proceed to increase the second loan facility must be done no later 

than 7 June 2018 for the purpose of working capital (Non-Tolling) and   no later than 28 

February 2019 for the purpose of Non-Tolling Standby Letter of Credit for Metallic 

Purchase Contract. 

 

On 28 March 2018 and 4 April 2018, the Company had repaid the first loan facility in 

total amount of USD 11 million and it transfers and increases in the second loan facility 

for the purpose of Non-Tolling Standby Letter of Credit for Metallic Purchase Contract. 
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2. The second loan facility of USD 30 million for the purpose of working capital and 

capital expenditure. On 10 October 2017, the Company had drawn down the loan of 

USD 5 million. Subsequent on 19 December 2017, the new loan facility has been 

reduced to USD 25 million and additional the purpose of draw down as described in 

Note 42.3.2 Moreover as described in Note 42.3.1.1 There was an amendment of the 

loan agreement for the prepayment of the loan before the first anniversary of the first 

draw down in which the Company must give the lender not less than 30 days’ written 

notice of the prepayment, or after the first anniversary of the first draw down. 

 

As at 31 December 2018, the Company has drawdown the second loan facility in the 

purpose of Non-Tolling Standby Letter of Credit and Metallics Purchase Contract of 

USD 35 million. 

 

42.3.2 For another credit facility of USD 40 million on 6 November 2017, the Company’s Board 

of Directors meeting had approved for entering the loan agreements in the period not over 2 

years which revised the existing facilities to USD 50 million for the purpose of increasing 

working capital for operation and purchasing of raw material, and increasing the capacity of 

the Company with the interest rate in between 2% - 12% p.a. depend on the loan facilities. 

On 13 November 2017 and 19 December 2017, the Company entered to amend the loan 

agreement from original contract as mentioned in Note 42.3.1 to revise the total loan facility 

not exceeding USD 121 million by applied the same collateral as mentioned in Note 42.3.1 

with the followings:  

 

1. Second loan facility reduced to USD 25 million (and later as mentioned in Note 42.3.2.3 

after the Company repaid the fourth loan of USD 5 million, the second loan facility has 

revert to USD 30 million) and additional the purpose of drawdown for Metallic Purchase 

Contract and for Non-Tolling Standby Letter of Credit. 

 

2. Third loan facility of USD 50 million as short-term period of one year, interest rate of 

12% p.a. for the purpose of supporting to tolling with G Steel, Metallic Purchase 

Contract and Tolling Standby Letter of Credit. During in November 2017, the Company 

had drawdown the loan of USD 40 million. On 24 December 2018, the Company has 

repaid the third loan facility in total amount of USD 2 million 

 

As at 31 December 2018, the Company has drawdown the third loan facility for Tolling 

Standby Letter of Credit in the purpose of Metallics Purchase Contract of USD 4.2 

million. 

 

3. Fourth loan facility of USD 5 million as short-term period of three-month, interest rate 

of 12% p.a. for the purpose of purchase of raw material. If there is a fully repaid of 

fourth loan facility, then the fourth loan facility shall be closed and divert to the second 

loan facility. On 20 December 2017, the Company had drawdown the loan of USD 5 

million. 

 

Later on there was a fully repaid of fourth loan facility on 9 March 2018, as a result the 

fourth loan facility had been closed and divert to the second loan facility. 
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43 Events after the reporting period 

 

43.1 The capital restructuring of the Company 

 

On 14 January 2019, the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting No.1/2019 had approved the 

important matters as follows: 

 

43.1.1 Approved the transfer of legal reserve in the amount of Baht 18,507,421.67 to compensate 

the retained losses. 

 

43.1.2 Approved the reduction of the Company’s registered capital from Baht 6.90 to Baht 0.96 

to compensate the Company’s retained losses resulting to the Company’s registered 

capital decreased from the original amount Baht 129,298,350,418.50 to Baht 

17,989,335,710.40 and the Company’s paid-up capital shall reduce from Baht 

96,104,091,707.70 to Baht 13,371,004,063.68, in which the Company shall apply the 

reduced paid-up capital to clear the discount on share capital of Baht 61,757,357,060.14 

and the retained losses of Baht 20,975,730,583.88, respectively. And approved the 

amendment of clause 4 of the Company’s memorandum of association to be in line with 

the reduction of registered capital by reducing the par value to compensate the Company’s 

retained losses. 

 

43.1.3 Approved the reduction in the registered capital of the Company in the amount of 

1,957,748,965 shares, with a par value of Baht 0.96 per share, from the existing registered 

capital of Baht 17,989,335,710.40 to Baht 16,109,896,704 by cancelling the Company’s 

authorized but unissued shares, prior to the increase of the Company’s registered capital, 

and approve the amendment clause 4 of the Company’s memorandum of association to be 

in line with the reduction of registered capital by cancelling the Company’s authorized but 

unissued shares. 

 

 Such cancelling of authorized but unissued shares does not include the ordinary shares of 

the Company allocated to accommodate the exercise of the warrants to purchase the 

ordinary share no. 3 (“GJS-W3”), in the amount of 1,606,677,915 shares which was 

approved by the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders No. 1/2017 which 

was held on 30 August 2017 and the warrants to purchase the ordinary share no. 4 (“GJS-

W4”), in the amount of 1,246,335,252 shares which was approved by the Extraordinary 

General Meeting of the Shareholders no. 1/2017 which was held on 30 August 2017. 

 

43.1.4 Approved the rights adjustment of GJS-W3 Warrant and GJS-W4 Warrant according to 

the rate and price of rights adjustment are as follows:  

 

 43.1.4.1 Adjustment of rights in case there is a change in the par value of the Company’s 

ordinary shares. 

 

 Before adjustment Adjustment from 

capital reduction  

GJS-W3 Warrants   

-  Exercise Ratio 1 Unit : 0.437 Share 1 Unit : 0.437 Share 

-  Exercise Price  1.3722 Baht/Share 0.1909 Baht/Share 

 

GJS-W4 Warrants 
  

-  Exercise Ratio 1 Unit : 0.437 Share 1 Unit : 0.437 Share 

-  Exercise Price 1.3722 Baht/Share 0.1909 Baht/Share 
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 43.1.4.2 Adjustment of rights in case the Company allocates the newly-issued ordinary 

shares of the Company share to the existing shareholders of the Company in 

proportion to their respective shareholding (Right Offering) at the calculated net 

price for newly issued stock below 90 percent of the Market Price for Ordinary 

Share. 

 

 Adjustment from 

capital reduction 

Adjustment from 

issued newly shares to 

existing shareholders  

GJS-W3 Warrants   

-  Exercise Ratio 1 Unit : 0.437 Share 1 Unit : 0.500 Share 

-  Exercise Price  0.1909 Baht/Share 0.1668 Baht/Share 

 

GJS-W4 Warrants 
  

-  Exercise Ratio 1 Unit : 0.437 Share 1 Unit : 0.500 Share 

-  Exercise Price 0.1909 Baht/Share 0.1668 Baht/Share 

 

43.1.5 Approved the increase in registered capital by the amount of Baht 11,490,928,047.36 from 

the existing registered capital of Baht 16,109,896,704 to Baht 27,600,824,751.36 by 

issuing 11,969,716,716 newly issued ordinary shares with a par value of Baht 0.96 per 

share to accommodate the allocation and offering of newly-issued shares to existing 

shareholders of the Company in proportion to their respective shareholding (Right 

Offering) and accommodate the adjustment of right under GJS-W3 and GJS-W4 and 

approve the amendment of clause 4 of the Company’s memorandum of association to be 

in line with the increase in the Company’s registered capital. 

 

43.1.6 Approved the allocation of the Company’s newly-issued shares in the amount of not 

exceeding 11,969,716,716 shares, at a par value of Baht 0.96 per share to accommodate: 

 

43.1.6.1 The allocation of the newly-issued ordinary shares of the Company in the 

amount of not exceeding 11,560,347,263 shares, with a par value of Baht 0.96 

per share to the existing shareholders of the company in proportion to their 

respective shareholding (Right Offering) with the price of Baht 0.13 per share, 

in the allocation ratio of 1 existing shares per 0.83 new shares where the fraction 

of shares shall be discarded. 

 

 In this regard, since the Company has accumulated losses in the statement of 

financial position and the profit and loss statements for the three-month and 

nine-month periods ended 30 September 2018, the Company is able to 

determine the offering price of newly-issued ordinary share with the price of 

Baht 0.13 per share, at a price lower than the par value, and as such require the 

Company to comply with Section 52 of the PLC Act (as amended). This 

issuance and offering of newly-issued ordinary shares of the Company will be 

the offering of newly-issued ordinary shares in proportion to the respective 

shareholding. In case there are decimals arisen from the calculation, such 

decimals shall be rounded down. The existing shareholders are entitled to 

subscribe for the shares exceeding their shareholding proportion.  In case there 

are ordinary shares left from the allocation to the existing shareholders in 

accordance with their shareholding proportion, the Company will allocate such 

remaining shares to the shareholders who intend to subscribe for the newly-

issued ordinary shares in excess of their shareholding proportion, at the same 

price. Such allocation of shares shall be proceeded until there is no ordinary 
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shares left or there is no more shareholder who intends to subscribe for the 

newly-issued ordinary shares. In case there are ordinary shares left from this 

increase of capital, such remaining ordinary shares will be cancelled. 

 

 In case any shareholder intends to subscribe the newly-issued ordinary shares in 

the amount exceeding his shareholding proportion and such subscription causes 

the total holding of Company’s shares by such a shareholder and his related 

persons under Section 258 of the PLC Act to exceed 25 percent of the total 

voting shares of the Company, such a shareholder is obliged to proceed the 

tender offer of the total securities of the Company according to the Notification 

of the Capital Market Supervisory Board No. ThorJor. 12/2554 Re: Rules, 

Conditions and Procedures for the Acquisition of Securities for Business 

Takeovers (the “Notification on Acquisition of Securities for Business 

Takeovers”), unless such a shareholder is granted the exception to proceed the 

tender offer of all the securities of the Company, as prescribed in the 

Notification on Acquisition of Securities for Business Takeovers. 

 

 In this regard, the date specified for determining the names of shareholders 

entitled to the allocation of newly-issued ordinary shares to existing 

shareholders in proportion to their respective shareholding (Right Offering) 

(Record Date) shall be 27 March 2019. 

 

43.1.6.2 The allocation of newly-issued shares from capital increase to accommodate the 

rights adjustment of GJS-W3 Warrant and GJS-W4 Warrant as follows: 

 

1) The allocation of newly-issued shares from capital increase to 

accommodate the rights adjustment of GJS-W3 Warrant in the amount of 

230,536,917 shares at the par value of Baht 0.96. 

 

2)  The allocation of newly-issued shares from capital increase to 

accommodate the rights adjustment of GJS-W4 Warrant in the amount of 

178,832,536 shares at the par value of Baht 0.96. 

 

 43.2 Loan from related party 

 

Since 1 January 2019 to the reporting date, the Company has repaid third loan facility in amount of 

USD 20 million. 
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